








MSO for Schools 
Designed to inspire students and support the work of 
teachers in the classroom, the 2023 MSO for Schools 
program included concerts for students of all ages and 
abilities, learning resources for generalist and specialist 
music teachers, and pathways for schools that have never 
engaged with the MSO.

Across the year, the program included exciting mainstage 
concerts Buŋgul, Forces of Nature, and The Making of 
the Orchestra. O�ering students the chance to go behind 
the music, the MSO presented two open rehearsals with 
conductors Xian Zhang and Jessica Cottis, along with  
Meet the Music: Finsterer and Vaughan Williams. Thanks  
to the generosity of an anonymous donor, tickets to MSO  
for Schools concerts remained at $9 each, continuing to 
make these learning experiences accessible for all.

In regional Victoria, MSO for Schools concerts, interactive 
performances and workshops for young musicians engaged 
more than 2,700 students in the communities of Shepparton, 
Wangaratta, Bendigo, Horsham, and Hamilton. Additionally, 
two specially curated digital broadcasts (Forces of Nature 
and The Making of the Orchestra), along with downloadable 
teacher resources packs, reached students virtually in 
schools across the State. 

Ensuring disadvantaged and diverse schools had equal 
access to MSO learning programs, the Schools Concert 
Experience Excursion Subsidy engaged 1,523 students from 
government primary and secondary schools with an Index  
of Community Socio-educational Advantage below 1000, 
and included subsidies for 37 buses, and sta©ng expenses.

MSO for Schools, and the MSO Schools Concert 
Experience Excursion Subsidies are supported by Crown 
Resorts Foundation and the Packer Family Foundation. 
Downloadable teacher resources were created with the 
support of the Victorian Department of Education’s Strategic 
Partnerships Program.

Melbourne Music Summit
The four-day Melbourne Music Summit took place in 
July and was designed to support and inspire educators 
of all types through keynote addresses, open rehearsals 
and performances, and conversations with leading music 
educators and artists of the MSO.

Teachers from across Victoria had the option to attend 
sessions in person at Iwaki Auditorium or to join live online. 
In 2023, a new seating format for teachers attending in 
person was introduced which saw them seated amongst 
the musicians while the Orchestra rehearsed. This was an 
extraordinary immersive experience for those attending in 
person and watching online.

The accessibility of the Summit’s overall format was 
particularly well received by participants, along with the 
opportunity to learn rehearsal, conducting and direction 
techniques in a professional orchestral setting. A suite of 
digital resources and recordings were created throughout 
the Summit, which remain freely available on the MSO 
for Schools website. The Melbourne Music Summit was 
supported by MSO Principal Partner, Emirates, and the 
Victorian Department of Education through the Strategic 
Partnerships Program and the City of Melbourne.

“ I loved the session exploring rehearsal techniques 
for vocal and instrumental ensembles… I will be 
able to take many of these ideas, some of which 
I had not come across before, and put them 
directly into my own practice as an ensemble 
leader and conductor. “

– Melbourne Music Summit attendee

The MSO works to create the full lifecycle of experiences—from inspirational �rst encounters at any age, to a 
lifelong love of music. In 2023, the MSO once again delivered key programming throughout the season, inviting 
audiences to experience the creative excellence of the orchestral artform, and explore the behind-the-scenes 
world of the MSO.

The MSO presented three of its much-loved, ‘musically illustrated’ lectures, Ears Wide Open to 2,200 people, 
and 57 pre-concerts talks to almost 7,000 people in 2023.

For the littlest audience members, the MSO continued to deliver its hugely popular Jams for Juniors events to 
more than 6,000 youngsters over 51 workshops, and its Classic Kids concerts introduced almost 5,000 primary 
school aged children to some of the world’s best loved orchestral works. 

Behind the scenes, the MSO continued its Work Experience program for secondary school students, o�ering two 
weeks across the year for 55 budding arts management workers.
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2023 Chinese New Year Concert and 
new partnership with the Sichuan 
Symphony Orchestra 
A cornerstone of the MSO’s 2023 East meets West program, 
the 10th Anniversary Chinese New Year Concert took place on 
Saturday 4 February 2023 at Hamer Hall in celebration of the 
Year of the Rabbit. 

The concert was led by one of the most in�uential conductors 
in China’s musical landscape, Artistic Director and Chief 
Conductor of the Sichuan Symphony Orchestra, Darrell 
Ang. The program featured beloved Sichuan soprano Meigui 
Zhang, pianist Angela Li, and musicians from the Australian 
Dunhuang Arts Academy with music inspired by the natural 
beauty of Sichuan Province It was recorded for broadcast and 
released across the year on MSO.LIVE. 

As part of this landmark event, a new, three-year collaboration 
agreement was signed between the MSO and its sister state 
orchestra, the Sichuan Symphony Orchestra, entailing a 
multi-faceted exchange program between the two orchestras. 
Partnership activities will include co-commissioning of 
Australian and Chinese works, sharing of knowledge in 
administration and operations, promotion of each other in 
home countries, and opportunities for musicians and chief 
conductor exchanges.

The MSO’s Chinese New Year Concert was proudly supported 
by the Consulate General of the People’s Republic of China, 
Ministry of Culture and Tourism China, Li Family Trust, 
National Foundation for Australia-China Relations, and  
our East meets West consortium of partners and donors.

“ I am thrilled to announce this exciting cross-
cultural collaboration and formalise the 
symbiotic relationship between our two great 
orchestras and between the State of Victoria 
and the Sichuan Province. �e partnership will 
provide wonderªl development and learning 
opportunities for the players of the SSO as well 
as the broader team that manages the SSO 
organisation. We look forward to sharing our 
music, our traditions and culture in this mutual 
exchange program.”

– Mr Wu Lingfeng, President, Sichuan Symphony Orchestra

Mosaics—Contemporary Sounds of 
Melbourne at the Sidney Myer Music 
Bowl
The MSO’s second Sidney Myer Free Concert of 2023 
opened with Ascension—a fanfare commissioned for the 
occasion composed by the 2023 Cybec Young Composer 
in Residence, Melissa Douglas—and over the course of the 
evening, celebrated the city’s musical diversity.

Following Stuart Greenbaum’s 90 Minutes Circling the 
Earth: Hymn to Freedom, the MSO was joined on stage 
by four dynamic artists from Melbourne’s outer suburbs, 
each performing one of their original works, developed in 
partnership with GRID Series. Showcasing the diversity of 
Melbourne’s thriving music scene, performances included 
Ag Johnson’s authentic and heartfelt African storytelling, 
Nomad’s Pasi�ka-Mâori soul, hip hop and jazz in�uences, 
HVSH’s multi-faceted, genre-crossing sounds and distinctive 
tenor, and Elaura’s neo-soul and alt R&B vocal stylings.

The night culminated in the world premiere of an MSO 
Commission Agam (The Interior Landscape). Presented 
by Sangam, Agam comprised three intertwined ancient, 
contemporary, and futuristic stories of Tamil Australians 
who live and work on the unceded lands of the Kulin 
Nations. Weaving together an anti-colonial perspective, this 
intercultural performance framed music as dance, visuals 
and storytelling to explore marginality, home, and belonging, 
and was created by Priya Srinivasan, Hari Sivanesan, Uthra 
Vijay, Sridhar Chari and Alex Turley with Sri Andal and 
Tulsidas Goswami.

“ Mosaics was a night of celebration with MSO’s 
programming facilitating a space for pride 
in diversi� and inviting audiences to include 
contemporary pieces and tonal traditions outside 
the Western Canon into their understanding of 
‘classical music’.”

– Arts Hub, 20 February 2023

The MSO is committed to creating innovative artistic programs which re�ect the diversity of its community 
both as audiences and artists, and where audiences recognise themselves in MSO’s artistic endeavours and 
performances. A highlight of this is the MSO’s East meets West program—one of the Orchestra’s �agship 
initiatives—a year-long celebration that brings traditional and contemporary Eastern music and musicians  
to the Australian stage.
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Geelong Series and  
Geelong Friends of the MSO
In 2023, the MSO was again the only Australian orchestra 
to o�er a full series of concerts in a second city. Performing 
in Geelong's splendid Costa Hall, the MSO presented a 
program which included Mozart and Beethoven Bliss, 
Re�ected Light, Prodigies: Mozart and Mendelssohn, 
Rachmaninov's Rhapsody, and a performance of the Ryman 
Healthcare Winter Gala: Ray Chen performs Tchaikovsky 
with Chief Conductor, Jaime Martín.

Championing our Geelong series is the wonderful Geelong 
Friends of the MSO. Playing an important part in supporting 
the Orchestra and ensuring the continuation of the annual 
series of concerts, the Geelong Friends help promote the 
MSO and its activities in the Geelong community. Bene�ts 
of a membership include invitations to post-concert events, 
and opportunities to hear the Orchestra at work in open 
rehearsals, among others.

Relaxed Performances
The MSO presented three relaxed performances in 
2023—The Making of the Orchestra, Forces of Nature, 
and A Symphonic Christmas—to more than 2,200 people. 
Elements of the performances were adapted to reduce 
anxiety and discomfort with special resources available  
to enhance the concert experience such as:

• Online pre-concert guidebooks including a downloadable 
Visual Story

• A relaxed attitude to noise and movement during the 
concert

• Lights stay on during the concert

• Open doors and chill-out break areas

• General admission seating with space for freedom of 
movement

• Friendly, trained sta�.

The MSO has been at the forefront of staging accessible 
performances and was the �rst major Australian orchestra to 
present a relaxed performance specially designed for people 
experiencing autism spectrum disorders or sensory and 
communication disorders.

Symphony in a Day
Each year, the MSO delivers its Symphony in a Day program 
which sees amateur, community musicians rehearse and 
perform alongside musicians of the MSO in a professional 
performance of well-known classical works.

Performing to a Hamer Hall audience of more than 600 
people, in 2023, 40 community members came together 
with the MSO and conductor, Johannes Fritzsch, to prepare 
and present Elena Kats-Chernin’s Momentum, Tchaikovsky’s 
Romeo and Juliet, and excerpts from Swan Lake. Welcoming 
community musicians from all over Victoria (and one from 
Tasmania!) including Corpus Medicorum, and the Geelong, 
Bendigo, Wangaratta, Gippsland, and Zelman Symphony 
Orchestras, over two rehearsals, the musicians practiced the 
works, learning from their MSO counterparts.

Performing Side-by-Side
The MSO is dedicated to sharing its expertise, providing 
valuable opportunities for community members to learn 
directly from musicians.

In March, MSO guest conductor Aaron Wyatt led the MSO 
and the Goulburn Valley Concert Orchestra in a side-by-
side rehearsal at St Augustine’s Hall, Shepparton. Together, 
the orchestras rehearsed Korngold’s The Sea Hawk and 
Shostakovich’s Symphony No.5 Finale, with community 
musicians bene�ting from the unique opportunity to play 
with and learn from world-class musicians.

In June, the next generation of orchestral musicians from  
the Melbourne Youth Orchestras joined members of the MSO 
and esteemed conductor Johannes Fritzsch for a very special 
performance. To an audience of more than 470 people, 56 
young musicians performed Stravinsky’s glittering Firebird 
Suite and Wagner favourite, Lohengrin: Prelude.

“ �e rehearsal with MSO was one of the best I 
have been to. Every person learned something 
from the whole experience, and it was just a 
brilliant rehearsal. I le© there on an absolute 
cloud 9."

–  Wade, Goulburn Valley Concert Orchestra Librarian/
Percussionist

The MSO believes in the power of music to unite, inspire, and transform communities, and is committed to 
developing pathways to prioritise audience-focused outcomes that align with community goals, and remove 
barriers to participation.

In 2023, the MSO’s annual Sidney Myer Free Concerts drew more than 26,000 people to the Sidney Myer Music 
Bowl and reached a broadcast audience of more than 176,000 people with a diverse range of programming, from 
Tchaikovsky, to the orchestral world premiere of works by emerging artists from Melbourne’s west.

Established for Season 2022, Friends of the MSO continued to o�er a variety of membership levels for audiences 
wishing for a deeper engagement with the Orchestra, with 721 members in 2023 (up from 379 in 2022). Our 
revived student membership program also saw 558 student members for the year. Complementing this was the 
continuation of the MSO’s Encore Magazine. Printed biannually it included a range of stories and articles about 
all things MSO including interviews with artists, musician pro�les, essays on composers and their compositions, 
and insight into the people that make the musical magic happen on stage.

The MSO continued its focus on collaborating with Australia’s leading non-orchestral artists. Bringing depth to 
programming, particularly through the MSO Presents series, the Orchestra collaborated with contemporary musical 
artists and acts with performances such as George Michael: Freedom!—opening doors to new audiences and 
pushing the perceived boundaries of what an orchestra means in contemporary society.
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ABC Classic FM
The MSO is proud to partner with ABC Classic to share its 
performances on radio throughout Australia and via digital 
streaming around the world, in a combination of live and 
pre-recorded broadcasts to an estimated 1 million listeners 
in 2023.

All the MSO’s Sidney Myer Free Concerts were broadcast 
live, while many concerts were recorded and broadcast 
throughout the year including the Ryman Healthcare Spring 
Gala: Symphonic Tales, Northern Re�ections: Sibelius and 
Shostakovich, Strauss’ Alpine Symphony, Debussy and 
Sutherland, and Brahms and Dvorak: Friends and Admirers, 
among others.

MSO.LIVE
Launched in late 2020, the MSO’s digital content viewing 
platform, MSO.LIVE, continued across 2023 delivering 
performances and learning and engagement events to 
viewers in 88 countries.

Functioning as a digital gateway into the MSO’s o�ering, 
MSO.LIVE increases access to the orchestral artform 
beyond the physical concert hall, providing a centralised, 
integrated portal through which music-lovers can engage 
with the MSO.

In total, 13 concerts from 2023 were showcased on the 
platform including the MSO’s 20th Anniversary Cybec 
Showcase, all the Sidney Myer Free Concerts, Britten’s 
War Requiem, Chinese New Year Concert, Symphonie 
Fantastique, and the MSO’s Ears Wide Open series.

MSO.LIVE is generously supported by Perpetual 
Foundation – Alan (AGL) Shaw Endowment and the 
Margaret Lawrence Bequest.

Welcoming the Quad Fellows to 
Melbourne
At the beginning of June, the MSO was pleased to be 
involved with the Quad Fellowship, an initiative of Schmidt 
Futures and the governments of Australia, India, Japan, 
and the United States which brings together the next 
generation of scientists and technologists committed to 
advancing innovation and collaboration.

Sharing the work of the MSO through a special dinner 
and performance, the MSO's First Nations Creative Chair, 
Deborah Cheetham Fraillon AO immersed the cohort of 
100 Quad Fellows in an evening of First Nations culture 
and artistic achievement. The Fellows experienced a visual 
art exhibition curated by Noongar man and conductor 
Aaron Wyatt, then performances featuring Deborah, the 
Melbourne Ensemble, Yorta Yorta woman and double 
bassist Allara Briggs-Pattison, and Basil Pyne.

�e MSO and LSO Live
In May, the MSO announced an extension to its partnership 
with the London Symphony Orchestra, which will see the 
establishment of a new in-house record label for the MSO, 
expanding the Orchestra’s international reach in more than 
200 countries through LSO Live’s distribution channels.

Under the musical direction and baton of Chief Conductor 
Jaime Martín, the label will showcase the distinct talents of 
Australian musicians, artists and composers including the 
growing in�uence of First Nations musicians who continue 
to break new ground with the MSO. The MSO is only the 
sixth partner (and the �rst in the Asia-Paci�c region) to join 
the LSO Live group of labels.

“ As we look to celebrate 25 years of LSO Live, 
we are delighted to partner with the Melbourne 
Symphony Orchestra to help realise their own 
ambitions and produce recordings that capture 
the performances they bring to the stage.”

–  Kathryn McDowell CBE DL, Managing Director,  
London Symphony Orchestra

MSO’s Indonesian Interns
For the month of October, and as part of the MSO's ongoing 
collaboration agreement with the Government of the Special 
Regional of Yogyakarta, the Orchestra welcomed two interns 
from Indonesia, Arya Adithya (Adit) and Daniel Pongsamma.

Adit (double bass) and Daniel (operations) worked alongside 
Orchestra sta� and musicians on a range of activities 
including rehearsing, setting up concerts, and travelling on 
the MSO's regional tour. Adit and Daniel were participants 
in the MSO’s 2022 instrumental and arts management 
workshops in Yogyakarta and it was pleasing to welcome 
them to Melbourne to continue their learning.

The MSO is very grateful to the Department of Foreign 
A�airs and Trade Victoria State O©ce, led by Director, Mr 
Tim Kane, and the Indonesian Consul General, Mr Kuncoro 
Waseso, who with the MSO, hosted an event to celebrate 
this internship as a model for future knowledge sharing, and 
Australia's close ties with Indonesia.
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London Symphony Orchestra
Marking the o©cial launch of the MSO’s landmark partnership 
with the London Symphony Orchestra, in May the MSO 
was delighted to present the LSO in Melbourne. In a �tting 
�nale to their three-city Australian tour, the LSO delivered 
two incredible concerts—Adams, Debussy and Ravel, and 
Mahler 7, proudly presented by MSO Premier Partner, Ryman 
Healthcare, with internationally revered conductor and LSO 
Music Director, Sir Simon Rattle OM CBE.

The four-year partnership between the MSO and the LSO 
enables cross-cultural collaboration between the two 
countries, further strengthening partnerships and enhancing 
the deep people-to-people links in the arts and cultural 
sectors. This includes reciprocal touring in Australia and 
the UK, facilitating emerging artist exchanges and co-
commissioning performances and activities, including  
digital innovations, such as LSO Live and MSO.LIVE.

Maria Callas: A Concert in Hologram
On 7 December, tradition and technology came together 
to create operatic alchemy in presentation of Maria Callas: 
A Concert in Hologram. Callas was one of the greatest 
sopranos that ever lived and marking 100 years since her 
birth, the MSO together with the European Union, presented 
a concert which melded state of the art 3D technology and 
digitally remastered recordings of her most loved arias.

This collaboration showcased technological innovation, 
while also celebrating and strengthening the enduring 
cultural ties between Australia and the European Union. 
Projects such as these are vital agents of cultural diplomacy, 
fostering mutual understanding and appreciation across 
diverse cultures.

The MSO is very grateful to His Excellency Gabriele Visentin, 
EU Ambassador to Australia for his wonderful partnership 
on this project, and thank everyone who's e�orts made this 
spectacular night possible.

Wynton Marsalis and Jazz at Lincoln 
Center Orchestra
Nine-time GRAMMY® Award-winning trumpeter Wynton 
Marsalis is one of the world’s most popular jazz musicians, 
receiving countless accolades throughout his decades-long 
career. The MSO was once again delighted to collaborate  
with his Jazz at Lincoln Center Orchestra (JLCO) on a tour 
that featured performances both with the MSO and alone.

Jazz at Lincoln Center Orchestra with Wynton Marsalis: A 
Journey through Jazz took audiences on a journey through 
some of the biggest hits from the history of jazz, while All 
Rise: Jazz at Lincoln Center Orchestra with Wynton Marsalis 
and the MSO performed the Australian premiere of Marsalis’ 
Symphony No.1, All Rise. This performance was conducted 
by Benjamin Northey and along with Marsalis and JLCO, also 
featured vocalists Emma Pearson, and Michelle Nicole, as well 
as the Consort of Melbourne, and MSO Chorus.

“ Even before a note is played, it’s impossible not 
to be dazzled by the scale of Wynton Marsalis’ 
Symphony No.1, All Rise. �e mere sight of 180 
performers occupying every inch of the stage 
at Hamer Hall on Friday night was enough to 
inspire awe."

–  The Age, 25 August 2023

Collaboration is at the heart of the MSO, elevating our performances, nurturing talent, and enriching the cultural 
fabric of Victoria and beyond. It brings together diverse musicians, composers, conductors, and other artists 
to share unique perspectives and skills. This fosters innovation, enriches the creative process and results in 
captivating performances that resonate with audiences.

The MSO was delighted to work together once again with the Shrine of Remembrance to deliver MSO Chorus 
performances to commemorate ANZAC and Remembrance Days, and in association with ConcertLab to stage 
The Music of Hans Zimmer presented by Art of the Score.

The MSO also collaborated with corporate partners to deliver outstanding audience experiences such as  
Premier Partner Ryman Healthcare to deliver a range of in-residence performances (including the opening of  
the new Deborah Cheetham Retirement Village in Ocean Grove), with LifeSpace Probiotics to present Symphonic 
Flow Yoga, and with Patient Wolf to create the Sir Andrew Davis Negroni, with ingredients selected by none 
other than the MSO’s Conductor Laureate himself.
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MSO PATRON

Her Excellency Professor the Honourable 
Margaret Gardner AC, Governor of Victoria

CHAIRMAN’S CIRCLE

The late Mr Marc Besen AC and  
the late Mrs Eva Besen AO
Gandel Foundation
The Gross Foundation
Di Jameson OAM and Frank Mercurio
Harold Mitchell Foundation
Lady Potter AC CMRI
Cybec Foundation
The Pratt Foundation
The Ullmer Family Foundation
Anonymous

ARTIST CHAIR BENEFACTORS

Cybec Assistant Conductor Chair  
Carlo Antonioli Cybec Foundation
Concertmaster Dale Barltrop 
David Li AM and Angela Li
Acting Associate Concertmaster 
Tair Khisambeev Di Jameson OAM  
and Frank Mercurio
Young Composer in Residence  
Melissa Douglas Cybec Foundation
Composer in Residence  
Mary Finsterer Kim Williams AM

PROGRAM BENEFACTORS

MSO Now & Forever Fund: International 
Engagement Gandel Foundation
Cybec 21st Century Australian 
Composers Program Cybec Foundation

Digital Transformation Perpetual 
Foundation - Margaret Lawrence Bequest 
and Alan (AGL) Shaw Endowment
First Nations Emerging Artist Program  
The Ullmer Family Foundation
East meets West The Li Family Trust, 
National Foundation for Australia-China 
Relations
MSO Live Online Crown Resorts 
Foundation, Packer Family Foundation
MSO Education Anonymous
MSO Academy Di Jameson OAM and  
Frank Mercurio, Mary Armour, 
Christopher Robinson in memory of Joan 
P Robinson
MSO For Schools Crown Resorts 
Foundation, Packer Family Foundation, 
Department of Education, Victoria, through 
the Strategic Partnerships Program
Melbourne Music Summit Department of 
Education, Victoria, through the Strategic 
Partnerships Program
MSO Regional Touring Angior Family 
Foundation, William & Lindsay Brodie 
Foundation, Creative Victoria, Freemasons 
Foundation Victoria, Gwen and Edna 
Jones Foundation, Robert Salzer 
Foundation, The Sir Andrew & Lady Fairley 
Foundation, Ray & Joyce Uebergang 
Foundation
The Pizzicato E�ect Hume City Council’s 
Community Grants program, The Marian 
and E.H. Flack Trust, Flora & Frank Leith 
Charitable Trust, Australian Decorative 
And Fine Arts Society, Anonymous
Sidney Myer Free Concerts Sidney Myer 
MSO Trust Fund and the University of 
Melbourne

PLATINUM PATRONS $100,000+

The late Mr Marc Besen AC and  
the late Mrs Eva Besen AO
Gandel Foundation
The Gross Foundation
Di Jameson OAM and Frank Mercurio
David Li AM and Angela Li
Lady Primrose Potter AC CMRI
Anonymous (1)

VIRTUOSO PATRONS $50,000+

Dr Harry Imber
Margaret Jackson AC
Packer Family Foundation
The Ullmer Family Foundation
Weis Family
Anonymous (1)

IMPRESARIO PATRONS $20,000+

The Aranday Foundation
H Bentley
The Hogan Family Foundation
David Krasnostein AM and Pat Stragalinos
Elizabeth Proust AO and Brian Lawrence
Lady Marigold Southey AC
Kim Williams AM
The Yulgilbar Foundation
Anonymous (2)

MAESTRO PATRONS $10,000+

Christine and Mark Armour
Margaret Billson and the late Ted Billson
Shane Buggle and Rosie Callanan
Krystyna Campbell-Pretty AM
Andrew Dudgeon AM

I would like to extend our heartfelt gratitude to our 
incredible family of patrons, funding partners, and donors 
for your outstanding generosity and unwavering support 
throughout 2023.

With support from Federal, State and local governments, 
along with almost 14,000 private grants and individual 
gifts, the MSO has continued its mission of enriching lives 
through music, fostering artist development, and delivering 
captivating musical experiences for our community as 
showcased in this report.

Whether in our concert halls, on regional tours, or at our 
well-attended post-concert patron lounges and special 
events, you have shared your stories, introduced us to 
your loved ones, become guardians and ambassadors, and 
engaged closely with our musicians and the music that moves 
you. Your warmth and generosity, coupled with your active 
participation and feedback, mean the world to our team and 
the entire Orchestra. We are deeply grateful.

As well as the enormous highs experienced across the year, 
there were challenging times for us all. As is the passage of 
life, we were saddened to hear of the passing of some of our 
dear supporters, including our life members Mr Marc Besen 
AC, and more recently Mr Harold Mitchell AC. 

It has, however, been a privilege to remain connected with 
partners and families who continue to attend our concerts 
and events and see new circles of patrons come together  
to share their love of music.

A special acknowledgment goes to our remarkable  
MSO musicians, our Board and our colleagues across the 
organisation who continue to support our Philanthropy team. 
Through great collaboration, we have celebrated numerous 
achievements, central among them being the generous 
reception given to Maestro Jaime Martín in his second 
season as our beloved Chief Conductor. The praise and 
admiration received from you and Maestro Martín himself 
speak volumes about the strength, sound, and energy of 
the MSO and its connection to our community in 2023. 
The bond between the podium, stage and seating radiates 
enormous a�ection and warmth, and we all recognise how 
very special this is.

Once again, I extend my sincere thanks to every one of our 
supporters for all that you do. In every way, your connections 
and contributions have been instrumental in ensuring the 
continued success of our esteemed Orchestra. Thank you.

Suzanne Dembo 
Director, Philanthropy & External A�airs
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Dr Mary-Jane H Gething AO
David R Lloyd
Peter Lovell
Maestro Jaime Martín
Rosemary and the late Douglas Meagher
Farrel and Wendy Meltzer
Nereda Hanlon and Michael Hanlon AM
Paul Noonan
Opalgate Foundation
Ian and Jeannie Paterson
Christopher Robinson and  
the late Joan P Robinson
Yashian Schauble
Glenn Sedgwick
The Sun Foundation
Gai and David Taylor
Athalie Williams and Tim Danielson
Lyn Williams AM
The Wingate Group
Anonymous (3)

PRINCIPAL PATRONS $5,000+

Mary Armour
John and Lorraine Bates
Barbara Bell in memory of Elsa Bell
Bodhi Education Fund
Julia and Jim Breen
Lynne Burgess
John Coppock OAM and Lyn Coppock
Perri Cutten and Jo Daniell
Ann Darby in memory of Leslie J. Darby
Mary Davidson and  
the late Frederick Davidson AM
The Dimmick Charitable Trust
Tim and Lyn Edward
Jaan Enden
Equity Trustees
Bill Fleming
Sophie Galaise and Clarence Fraser
Carrillo Gantner AC and Ziyin Gantner
Dr Rhyl Wade and Dr Clem Gruen
Cecilie Hall and 
 the late Hon Michael Watt KC
Louis J Hamon OAM
Merv Keehn and Sue Harlow
Dr Alastair Jackson AM
Paul and Amy Jasper
Dr John and Diana Frew
Suzanne Kirkham
The late Dr Elizabeth Lewis AM
Lucas Family Foundation
Dr Jane Mackenzie
Gary McPherson
The Mercer Family Foundation
Anne Neil in memory of Murray A. Neil
Newton Family in memory of Rae Roth�eld
Ken Ong OAM
David Ponsford
Professor Sam Ricketson AM and  
Dr Rosemary Ayton
Andrew and Judy Rogers
The Rosemary Norman Foundation
Guy Ross
Helen Silver AO and Harrison Young
Brian Snape AM
Dr Michael Soon

Mary Waldron
Janet Whiting AM
Dawna Wright and Peter Riedel
Anonymous (1)

ASSOCIATE PATRONS $2,500+

Carolyn Baker
Marlyn Bancroft and Peter Bancroft OAM
Sascha O Becker
Janet H Bell
Alan and Dr Jennifer Breschkin
Patricia Brockman
Nigel and Sheena Broughton
Dr Lynda Campbell
Oliver Carton
Janet Chauvel and  
the late Dr Richard Chauvel
Michael Davies and Drina Staples
Leo de Lange
Sophie E Dougall in memory of Libby Harold
Barry Fradkin OAM and Dr Pam Fradkin
Steinicke Family
Gillian Hund OAM and Michael Hund
R Goldberg and Family
Goldschlager Family Charitable 
Foundation
Colin Golvan AM KC and  
Dr Deborah Golvan
Jennifer Gorog
C M Gray
Marshall Grosby and Margie Bromilow
Ian Kennedy AM and Dr Sandra Hacker AO
Susan and Gary Hearst
Dr Keith Higgins and Dr Jane Joshi
Hartmut and Ruth Hofmann
Doug Hooley
Sandy Jenkins
John Jones
Mrs Qian Li
Carolynne Marks
Margaret and John Mason OAM
H E McKenzie
Dr Isabel McLean
Christopher Menz and Peter Rose
Ian Merrylees
Dr Paul Nisselle AM
Alan and Dorothy Pattison
David and Nancy Price
Ruth and Ralph Renard
Peter and Carolyn Rendit
James Ring
Tom and Elizabeth Romanowski
Christopher Menz and Peter Rose
Liliane Rusek and Alexander Ushako�
Je�rey Sher KC and Diana Sher OAM
Barry Spanger
Caroline Stuart
Robert and Diana Wilson
Shirley and Je�rey Zajac
Anonymous (3)

PLAYER PATRONS $1,000+

Dr Sally Adams
Margaret Astbury
Robbie Barker
Allen and Kathryn Bloom

Michael Bowles and Alma Gill
Joyce Bown
Youth Music Foundation
Professor Ian Brighthope
Miranda Brockman
Drs John D L Brookes and Lucy V Hanlon
Stuart Brown
Jill and Christopher Buckley
Dr Robin Burns and Dr Roger Douglas
Ronald and Kate Burnstein
Kaye Cleary
Breen Creighton and Elsbeth Hadenfeldt
Mrs Nola Daley
Panch Das and Laurel Young-Das
Caroline Davies
Natasha Davies, for the Trikojus Education 
Fund
Suzanne Dembo
Rick and Sue Deering
John and Anne Duncan
Jane Edmanson OAM
Diane Fisher
Grant Fisher and Helen Bird
Alex Forrest
Applebay Pty Ltd
David H and Esther Frenkiel OAM
Mary Gaidzkar
Simon Gaites
Anthony Garvey and Estelle O’Callaghan
David I Gibbs AM and Susie O’Neill
Sonia Gilderdale
Dr Celia Godfrey
Dr Marged Goode
Hilary Hall in memory of Wilma Collie
David Hardy
Tilda and the late Brian Haughney
Cathy Henry
Dr Jennifer Henry
Anthony and Karen Ho
Lorraine Hook
Jenny and Peter Hordern
Katherine Horwood
Jordan Janssen
Shyama Jayaswal
Basil and Rita Jenkins
Sue Johnston
John Kaufman
Angela Kayser
Drs Bruce and Natalie Kellett
Akira Kikkawa
Dr Judith Kinnear
Dr Richard Knafelc and Mr Grevis Beard
Dr Jerry Koliha and Marlene Krelle
Kerry Landman
Bryan Lawrence
Lesley McMullin Foundation
Dr Jenny Lewis
Phil Lewis
Dr Kin Liu
Andrew Lockwood
Elizabeth H Loftus
Chris and Anna Long
John MacLeod
Eleanor and Phillip Mancini
Marshall Segan in memory of  
Berek Segan OBE and Marysia Segan
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Ian McDonald
Wayne McDonald and Kay Schroer
Lois McKay
Dr Eric Meadows
Professor Geo�rey Metz
Sylvia Miller
Ian Morrey and Geo�rey Minter
Anthony and Anna Morton
Dr Judith S Nimmo
Laurence O’Keefe and Christopher James
Susan Pelka
Ian Penboss
Peter Priest
John Prokupets
Professor Charles Qin OAM and  
Kate Ritchie
Eli Raskin
Jan and Keith Richards
Roger Parker and Ruth Parker
Dr Peter Rogers and Cathy Rogers OAM
Dr Ronald and Elizabeth Rosanove
Marie Rowland
Martin and Susan Shirley
P Shore
John E Smith
Dr Peter Strickland
Dr Joel Symons and Liora Symons
Russell Taylor and Tara Obeyesekere
Geo�rey Thomlinson
Frank Tisher OAM and Dr Miriam Tisher
Andrew and Penny Torok
Christina Turner
Leon and Sandra Velik
The late Reverend Noel Whale
Edward and Paddy White
Nic and Ann Willcock
Lorraine Woolley
Dr Kelly and Dr Heathcote Wright
Anonymous (15)

OVERTURE PATRONS $500+

Margaret Abbey PSM
Jane Allan and Mark Redmond
Mario M Anders
Jenny Anderson
Dr Judith Armstrong and Robyn Dalziel
Doris Au
Lyn Bailey
Peter Batterham
Peter Berry and Amanda Quirk
Dr William Birch AM
Richard Bolitho
Dr Robert Brook
Elizabeth Brown
Suzie Brown OAM and  
the late Harvey Brown
John Brownbill
Daniel Bushaway
Jungpin Chen
Linda Clifton
Dr John Collins
Judith Cowden in memory of violinist 
Margaret Cowden
Gregory Crew
Sue Cummings
Dr Oliver Daly and Matilda Daly

Carol des Cognets
Bruce Dudon
Margaret Flatman
Brian Florence
Chris Freelance
M C Friday
David and Geraldine Glenny
Louise Gourlay OAM
Jan and the late Robert Green
Christine Grenda
Dawn Hales
George Hampel AM KC and  
Felicity Hampel AM SC
Geo� Hayes
John Hill
William Holder
Rod Home
Gillian Horwood
Noelle Howell and Judy Clezy
Geo� and Denise Illing
Rob Jackson
Wendy Johnson
Irene Kearsey and Michael Ridley
Peter Kempen AM
John Keys
Professor David Knowles and  
Dr Anne McLachlan
Dr Kim Lang�eld-Smith
Janet and Ross Lapworth
Pauline and David Lawton
Paschalina Leach
Sharon Li
Dr Susan Linton
Kay Liu
David Loggia
Joy Manners
Morris and Helen Margolis
Sandra Masel in memory of Leigh Masel
Janice May�eld
Gail McKay
Shirley A McKenzie
Joan Mullumby
Marian Neumann
Ed Newbigin
Valerie Newman
Brendan O’Donnell
Jillian Pappas
Phil Parker
The Hon Chris Pearce and Andrea Pearce
Kerryn Pratchett
William Ramirez
Geo�rey Ravenscroft
Dr Christopher Rees
Professor John Rickard
Peter Riedel
Michael Riordan and Geo�rey Bush
Fred and Patricia Russell
Carolyn Sanders
Dr Marc Saunders
Julia Schlapp
Hon Jim Short and Jan Rothwell Short
Madeline Soloveychik
Dr Alex Starr
Dylan Stewart
Tom Sykes
Allison Taylor

Reverend Angela Thomas
Mely Tjandra
Chris and Helen Trueman
Rosemary Warnock
Amanda Watson
Michael Whishaw
Deborah and Dr Kevin Whithear OAM
Charles and Jill Wright
Anonymous (11)

MSO GUARDIANS 

Jenny Anderson
David Angelovich 
G C Bawden and L de Kievit 
Lesley Bawden
Joyce Bown
Patricia A Breslin
Mrs Jenny Bruckner and  
the late Mr John Bruckner
The late Ken Bullen
Peter A Caldwell 
Luci and Ron Chambers
Beryl Dean
Sandra Dent 
Alan Egan JP
Gunta Eglite
Marguerite Garnon-Williams
Drs L C Gruen and R W Wade
Louis J Hamon AOM
Charles Hardman
Carol Hay
Jennifer Henry
Graham Hogarth
Rod Home
Lyndon Horsburgh
Tony Howe
Lindsay and Michael Jacombs
Laurence O’Keefe and Christopher James
John Jones
Sylvia Lavelle
Pauline and David Lawton
Cameron Mowat
Ruth Muir
David Orr
Matthew O’Sullivan
Rosia Pasteur
Penny Rawlins
Anne Roussac-Hoyne and Neil Roussac
Michael Ryan and Wendy Mead
Andrew Serpell and Anne Kieni Serpell
Jennifer Shepherd
Suzette Sherazee
Dr Gabriela and Dr George Stephenson
Pamela Swansson
Lillian Tarry
Tam Vu and Dr Cherilyn Tillman
Mr and Mrs R P Trebilcock
Peter Turner and the late Elisabeth Turner
Michael Ulmer AO
The Hon. Rosemary Varty 
Terry Wills Cooke OAM and  
the late Marian Wills Cooke
Mark Young
Anonymous (20)
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The MSO gratefully acknowledges  
the support of the following Estates:

Norma Ruth Atwell
Angela Beagley
Christine Mary Bridgart
Margaret Anne Brien
Barbara Bobbe
Michael Francois Boyt
The Cuming Bequest
Margaret Davies
Blair Doig Dixon
Neilma Gantner
Angela Felicity Glover
The Hon Dr Alan Goldberg AO QC
Derek John Grantham
Enid Florence Hookey
Gwen Hunt
Family and Friends of James Jacoby
Audrey Jenkins
Joan Jones
Pauline Marie Johnston
Christine Mary Kellam
C P Kemp
Jennifer Selina Laurent
Sylvia Rose Lavelle
Peter Forbes MacLaren
Joan Winsome Maslen
Lorraine Maxine Meldrum
Prof Andrew McCredie
Jean Moore
Joan P Robinson
Maxwell and Jill Schultz
Miss Sheila Scotter AM MBE
Marion A I H M Spence
Molly Stephens
Gwennyth St John
Halinka Tarczynska-Fiddian
Jennifer May Teague
Albert Henry Ullin
Jean Tweedie
Herta and Fred B Vogel
Daphne White
Dorothy Wood
Joyce Winsome Woodro�e

COMMISSIONING CIRCLE

Cecilie Hall and  
the Late Hon Michael Watt KC
Tim and Lyn Edward
Weis Family

FIRST NATIONS CIRCLE

John and Lorraine Bates
Colin Golvan AM KC and  
Dr Deborah Golvan
Sascha O. Becker
Maestro Jaime Martín
Elizabeth Proust AO and Brian Lawrence
Guy Ross
The Kate and Stephen Shelmerdine Family 
Foundation
Michael Ullmer AO and Jenny Ullmer
Jason Yeap OAM – Mering Management 
Corporation

ADOPT A MUSICIAN

Shane Buggle and Rosie Callanan 

Roger Young

Andrew Dudgeon AM 

Rohan de Korte, Philippa West

Tim and Lyn Edward 
John Arcaro

Dr John and Diana Frew 

Rosie Turner

Sophie Galaise and Clarence Fraser 
Stephen Newton

Dr Mary-Jane Gething AO 
Monica Curro

The Gross Foundation 

Matthew Tomkins

Dr Clem Gruen and Dr Rhyl Wade 

Robert Cossom

Cecilie Hall and 
the late Hon Michael Watt KC 

Saul Lewis

Nereda Hanlon and Michael Hanlon AM 

Abbey Edlin

David Horowicz 

Anne-Marie Johnson

Dr Harry Imber 
Sarah Curro, Jack Schiller

Margaret Jackson AC 

Nicolas Fleury

Di Jameson OAM and Frank Mercurio 

Elina Fashki, Benjamin Hanlon, Tair Khisambeev,  
Christopher Moore

The late Dr Elizabeth A Lewis AM 

Anthony Chataway

David Li AM and Angela Li 

Dale Barltrop

Rosemary and the late Douglas Meagher 
Craig Hill

Gary McPherson 

Rachel Shaw

Anne Neil 
Eleanor Mancini

Newton Family in memory of Rae Roth�eld 
Cong Gu

The Rosemary Norman Foundation 

Ann Blackburn

Andrew and Judy Rogers 

Michelle Wood

Glenn Sedgwick 

Ti
any Cheng, Shane Hooton

Dr Martin Tymms and Patricia Nilsson 

Natasha Thomas

Anonymous 
Prudence Davis

Anonymous 
Rachael Tobin

HONORARY APPOINTMENTS

Life Members
John Gandel AC and Pauline Gandel AC
Sir Elton John CBE
Harold Mitchell AC
Lady Potter AC CMRI
Jeanne Pratt AC
Michael Ullmer AO and Jenny Ullmer
Anonymous
MSO Ambassador 
Geo�rey Rush AC
The MSO honours the memory  
of Life Members
The late Mr Marc Besen AC and 
the late Mrs Eva Besen AO
John Brockman OAM
The Honourable Alan Goldberg AO QC
Roger Riordan AM
Ila Vanrenen

MSO BOARD

Chairman
David Li AM

Co-Deputy Chairs
Di Jameson OAM
Helen Silver AO

Managing Director
Sophie Galaise
Board Directors
Shane Buggle
Andrew Dudgeon AM
Martin Foley
Lorraine Hook
Margaret Jackson AC
Gary McPherson
Farrel Meltzer
Edgar Myer
Glenn Sedgwick
Mary Waldron

Company Secretary
Oliver Carton
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EXECUTIVE

Sophie Galaise* 
Managing Director 

Judith Clark 
Executive Assistant, Oªce of the 
Managing Director 
(until Sep 2023)

Justine Battistella 
Executive Assistant, Oªce of the 
Managing Director 
(from Sep 2023)

PROGRAMMING

John Nolan* 
Director of Programming 
(until Aug 2023)

Warren Trevelyan-Jones 
Chorus Director

Katharine  
Bartholomeusz-Plows  
Head of Artistic Planning

Andrew Groch  
Artistic Planning Manager

Grace Ip 
Programming Coordinator 
(from Jan 2023)

Mindy Meng Wang 
East meets West Programming 
Lead 
(from Aug 2023)

Rory Je�es 
International Engagement 
Advisor

Luke Speedy-Hutton 
Orchestra Library Manager

Veronika Reeves 
Orchestra Librarian

Jennifer Powell 
Orchestra Librarian

LEARNING & ENGAGEMENT

Nicholas Bochner 
Head of Learning & Engagement

Jennifer Lang 
Head of Learning & Engagement 
(until Jan 2023)

Keturah Haisman 
Schools Program Lead 
(from Mar 2023)

Erica Dawkins 
Emerging Artist Lead 
(from Mar 2023)

Emma Muir-Smith 
Pizzicato E
ect Program Lead 
(Feb–Aug 2023)

Chloe Sanger 
Lead Teaching Artist –  
The Pizzicato E
ect 
(until Jan 2023)

ARTISTIC OPERATIONS

Guy Ross* 
Chief Operating Oªcer

Simonette Turner 
Head of Orchestra Management

Callum Moncrie� 
Head of Touring & Chorus

Nina Dubecki 
Orchestra Manager

Eljo Agenbach 
Assistant Orchestra Manager

Meg Bowker 
Orchestra & Chorus Coordinator 
(from May 2023)

Stephen McAllan 
Associate Producer  
& Artist Liaison

Mark Sutcli�e 
Executive Producer  
MSO Presents

Erika Noguchi 
Producer MSO Presents

Steele Foster  
Head of Media & Production

Brenton Burley  
Production Manager 
(from Sep 2023)

Daniel Boaden 
Production Coordinator

Rory Wilson 
Production Coordinator 
(until Jul 2023)

Renn Picard 
Production Coordinator 
(from Aug 2023)

Samantha Meuleman 
Digital Content Producer

Adam Weitzer 
Digital Content Administrator 
(from Jan 2023)

Fiona McDonald 
Head Of People and Culture 
(until Jul 2023)

Alexandra Fitzgerald 
People & Culture Business 
Partner

PHILANTHROPY &  
EXTERNAL AFFAIRS

Suzanne Dembo*  
Director Philanthropy & External 
A
airs

Caroline Buckley  
Head of External A
airs 

Nickie Warton 
Head of Philanthropy 
(until Sep 2023)

Charlotte Crocker 
Philanthropy: Administration & 
Programs Lead

Rosemary Shaw 
Philanthropy: Campaigns & 
Communications Lead  
(until Aug 2023)

Catherine Hempenstall 
External A
airs: Grants & 
Reporting Lead

Keith Clancy  
Donor Liaison 

PARTNERSHIPS 

Jayde Walker* 
Director of Business Development

Christopher Cassidy  
Senior Manager Corporate 
Partnerships 

Aidan Furst 
Partnerships Manager

Olivia Ouyang  
East meets West Engagement 
Lead

MARKETING

Dylan Stewart* 
Director of Marketing  
& Sales

Clare Douglas  
Head of Marketing & 
Communications

Emiko Hunt 
Digital Marketing Manager 
(until Aug 2023)

Sally Hern 
Campaign Marketing Manager

Phil Paschke 
Digital Project Manager

Katya Dibb 
Graphic Designer

Emily Plater  
Marketing Coordinator 
(until Apr 2023)

Claudia Biaggini  
Marketing Coordinator 
(from Apr 2023)

Laura Pemberton 
Digital Content Coordinator

Stephanie Sheridan 
Marketing Administrator 
(until Dec 2023)

Prue Bassett 
Publicity Manager

SALES

Shannon Toyne 
Head of Sales & Customer 
Experience

Sarah Camm 
Box Oªce Manager

Nicole Rees 
Ticketing Operations  
& Insights Lead

Marta Arquero 
Box Oªce Operations 
Coordinator

Rowan Donaldson 
Box Oªce Supervisor

Abbey Barnes 
Box Oªce Supervisor 
(until May 2023)

Sam Harvey 
Database Administrator

FINANCE

Sharon Li* 
Chief Financial Oªcer 

Emily Zhang  
Financial Controller  
(until Dec 2023)

Jyothi Kokirala  
Accountant 
(until Feb 2023)

Zoe Gao 
Accountant 
(Feb–Aug 2023)

Eric Lai 
Accounts Oªcer

Lynn Tejano 
Payroll & Finance Oªcer

Shayal Kumar 
Payroll & Finance Oªcer 
(from Dec 2023)

 

Our Management

*MSO Executive Leadership Team
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Dr Sophie Galaise 
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Dr Sophie Galaise joined the MSO as its �rst female Managing Director in 
April 2016.

She has been on the board of Symphony Services International since 2013 
and was elected Chair in November 2021. She is a member of the Advisory 
Council of the Harvard Business Review, the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors (AICD) and the CEO Institute in Australia. Sophie is also a member 
of the International Advisory Committee of the only Master in International 
Arts Management (MMIAM), a program o�ered by Southern Methodist 
University (Dallas), SDA Bocconi (Milan) and HEC (Montreal). This unique 
program trains the next generation of managers and prepares them to work 
abroad or with foreign organisations.

Two-time winner of the 100 Women of In�uence Awards, in 2019 (Australian 
Financial Review/Qantas) and 2015 (AFR/Westpac), Sophie is renowned for 
her extensive global experience working with orchestras, not only at the 
executive level, but also as a professional musician and musicologist.

Sophie was invited to participate in the 2019 Perpetual Stanford CEO 
Study Tour in San Francisco. Along with other leaders from Australia, 
North America, and Europe, she took part in a week of activities with the 
Stanford’s Centre on Philanthropy and Civil Society (PACS). In December 
2021, Musical America magazine recognised Sophie amongst the world “Top 
30 Professionals of the Year; Heroes of the pandemic”, for her leadership in 
response to the pandemic, her unwavering dedication to the MSO and more 
broadly to the performing arts sector.

In October 2022, Sophie was appointed Honorary Consul of Canada in 
Melbourne and in November 2022, The Asia Society Australia honoured her 
with an Asia Game Changer 2022 Award.

Prior to her appointment to the MSO, Sophie was Chief Executive O©cer 
of the Queensland Symphony Orchestra. Previous roles include Executive 
Director of the Quebec Symphony Orchestra, Executive Director and Artistic 
Director of the Orford Arts Centre and Music Coordinator for the Quebec 
Arts Council.

Starting her career as a �autist in Germany, Sophie worked in Switzerland 
and France with Pierre Boulez. Native from Quebec, Canada, Sophie has a 
PhD in Musicology from the University of Montreal and an Executive MBA 
from McGill University/HEC Montreal.
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David Li AM
CHAIRMAN

Member of: 
MSO Finance Committee 

MSO Foundation Committee

MSO Governance Committee 

MSO Learning & Engagement Committee 

MSO Music Hub Committee

David Li is a Shanghai-born musician 
and entrepreneur. David completed 
his postgraduate study in Advanced 
Performing Arts at the Victoria College 
of Arts, University of Melbourne and was 
a recipient of the Australia China Council 
Grant and BP Scholarship in the 1980s.

Following a successful phase of his life  
as a career violinist, David transitioned 
into business, becoming a market leader 
in building materials manufacturing,  
a property developer, and an investor 
with a highly diversi�ed portfolio.  
David has been a Board Member of MSO 
since 2013. He is a benefactor of the Sir 
Zelman Cowen School of Music, Monash 
University, Patron of Monash Medical 
Research, and a Council Member of 
Monash University Philanthropy Funding 
Council.

David was conferred the Honorary 
Fellowship of Monash University in 2019. 
He was awarded a member of the Order 
of Australia (AM) on the Queen’s Birthday 
2019 in recognition of his signi�cant 
service to the performing arts. David  
is married with two children.

Appointed 01 July 2013 
Appointed Chairman 30 April 2021 

Our Board

Di Jameson OAM
CO-DEPUTY CHAIR

Chair MSO Finance Committee

Member of: 
MSO Foundation Committee

MSO Governance Committee

MSO Investment Sub-Committee

Di Jameson commenced her professional 
life as a mining analyst going on to found 
Horsey Jameson Bird a highly respected 
business and accountancy practice 
in 1992. Di has enjoyed a successful 
career in the �nancial sector spanning 
more than 40 years and is a well known 
�nancial commentator and public 
speaker.

She is a CFP and Registered Tax Agent 
and divides her time between Horsey 
Jameson Bird, mentoring young 
professionals, her various music interests 
and not for pro�t roles.

Di was awarded an OAM in the King’s 
Birthday 2023 Honours List for her 
service to the arts and business.

Appointed 10 April 2018
Appointed Co-Deputy Chair 
30 April 2021

Helen Silver AO 
CO-DEPUTY CHAIR

Chair MSO Governance Committee 

Member of: 
MSO Music Hub Committee

Helen Silver has worked at the highest 
levels of the public and private sectors. 
From 2013 for eight years, she worked 
for Allianz Australia where her last 
role was Deputy Managing Director. 
Prior to joining Allianz, Helen had 
worked in executive roles in the NAB, 
Victorian and Commonwealth public 
service, culminating as Secretary of the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet. 
Helen retired from full time executive 
roles in March 2022.

Helen is a non-executive director of 
Crown Melbourne and PEXA Group 
Limited. Helen also works with the Arts 
and the Creative industries as Chair 
of the Australian Children’s Television 
Foundation.

Appointed 14 January 2015
Appointed Co-Deputy Chair 
30 April 2021
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Lorraine Hook
DIRECTOR (EMPLOYEE-ELECTED)

Violinist Lorraine Hook joined the MSO 
in 1986 after studying in Melbourne, 
Germany, and London, and plays in the 
First Violin Section. Lorraine is actively 
involved in Chamber Music including 
performing in Tokyo in 2019. 

She enjoys teaching privately, has 
tutored for the Melbourne and 
Australian Youth Orchestras, and was 
an MSO mentor for the Master of Music 
Orchestral Performance at Melbourne 
University Conservatorium of Music. 
Lorraine’s orchestral experience includes 
the Royal Philharmonic, City of London 
Sinfonia, London Festival Orchestra, 
Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra, 
Academy of Melbourne, and Australia 
Pro Arte.

Lorraine is Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD).

Appointed 27 February 2019

Margaret Jackson AC
DIRECTOR

Chair MSO Music Hub Committee

Member of: 
MSO Foundation Committee

MSO Governance Committee

Margaret Jackson is a Director of 
Barefoot to Boots and Interplast Australia 
and an advisor to a number of � nancial 
entities.

Margaret has an extensive list of 
previous roles including Chairman of the 
Defence Employer Partnering Network, 
Chairman of Spotless Group Holdings, 
Chairman of Qantas, FlexiGroup Ltd, 
Chairman of Ansett Aviation Training 
Ltd, the Victorian Transport Accident 
Commission, the Prince’s Trust Australia, 
the Malthouse and the Playbox, and 
President of Australian Volunteers 
International. She has also served as 
a Director of The Australian and New 
Zealand Banking Corporation, Paci� c 
Dunlop Limited, John Fairfax Holdings 
Limited, BHP, and Telecom.

Margaret was awarded a Companion 
of the Order of Australia in the General 
Division (AC) in June 2003 for service 
to business in diverse and leading 
Australian corporations and to the 
community in the area of support for 
medical research, the arts and education. 
She also received the Centenary Medal 
in 2001 for service to Australian society 
in business.

Appointed 8 May 2015

Gary McPherson
DIRECTOR

Chair MSO Learning & Engagement 
Committee

Gary McPherson is the Ormond 
Professor of Music at the Melbourne 
Conservatorium of Music, the University 
of Melbourne.

Trained at the universities of Sydney and 
Indiana he has held professorial positions 
in the United States, Hong Kong, and 
Australia.

A former President of the Australian 
and International Societies for Music 
Education he has published over 250 
academic publications and produced 
14 books through Oxford University Press.

Gary served as Director of the 
Melbourne Conservatorium of Music 
from 2009 to 2019 and currently teaches 
and undertakes research on a range of 
issues related to music performance 
science and music psychology.

In 2021 he was awarded an Honorary 
Doctorate from Lund University (Sweden) 
for his contribution to music and music 
research internationally.

Appointed 18 August 2021 
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Farrel Meltzer
DIRECTOR

Member of: 

MSO Foundation Committee

Farrel Meltzer founded Wingate in 
2004 after a successful career as an 
investment banker, including positions 
as head of ANZ Private Bank and Group 
Managing Director of Investec Bank 
(Australia) Ltd.

Recognised as one of Australia’s 
outstanding specialised �nancial service 
innovators and business builders, Farrel’s 
experience spans property investment 
and �nancing, listed equities, corporate 
and consumer debt and private equity.

Farrel serves on several boards, 
investment and risk management 
committees and is an advisor to 
and con�dant of many of Australia’s 
substantial private investment groups 
and families. He is a Chartered 
Accountant and holds a B.Com, B.Acc 
(cum laude) and Adv Dip Banking (cum 
laude). Farrel is active in community 
a�airs and a former board member of 
Jewish Care Victoria and the Jewish 
Museum of Australia Foundation.

He credits Wingate’s success to it having 
been guided by a measured approach to 
risk and a deep sense of responsibility to 
co-investors, partners, and clients.

Appointed 22 November 2022

Edgar Myer
DIRECTOR

Member of: 
MSO Foundation Committee

MSO Investment Sub-Committee

Edgar Myer is an Investment Director at 
Yulgilbar Group of Companies, a family 
o©ce that invests across various asset 
classes and operating businesses. Before 
moving into investment management, 
Edgar practiced as a solicitor at Gilbert 
+ Tobin, which included a secondment 
to Cravath, Swaine & Moore in New York 
City.

Edgar also has experience as a company 
director across a number of philanthropic 
initiatives, including as Chairman of the 
Conference of Australian and Indonesian 
Youth, and serves as a member of the 
Asialink Council and the Kenneth Myer 
Innovation Fellowships Committee. He  
is married with one child.

Appointed 17 March 2023

Glenn Sedgwick 
DIRECTOR

Member of: 
MSO Foundation Committee 

MSO Finance Committee

Glenn Sedgwick serves on the Board of 
Equity Trustees Holdings Limited, and 
its Audit, Responsible Entity Compliance 
and Strategy Committees. He is a 
Director of the Victorian Managed 
Insurance Agency and is Chair of the 
Audit and Risk Committee as well as 
being a member of the Capital and Risk 
Committee. 

Previously he was a Partner at Accenture 
specialising in Financial Services. He 
has worked in the UK, Europe, Hong 
Kong, and Mainland China. Glenn has 
previously chaired private companies 
in the Tourism and Financial Services 
sectors. Glenn is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants and a Fellow 
of the Institute of Company Directors.

Appointed 10 April 2018
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Mary Waldron
DIRECTOR

Member of: 
MSO Learning & Engagement Committee

MSO Music Hub Committee

Mary previously served in Chair and 
Directorship roles at the Melbourne 
Recital Centre, Opera Australia, 
Macfarlane Burnet Institute for Medical 
Research and Public Health, Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand, 
The Australian-Ireland Fund, and the 
Centre for Ethical Leadership advisory 
board.

She is a current non-Executive Director 
and Chair of Audit, Risk and Compliance 
of Zurich Australia and NZ and Chair of 
Audit and Finance at Crown Melbourne 
Limited.

Mary has more than 35 years’ experience 
providing audit, risk, and professional 
services to Australian and Global 
Companies, in addition to Global 
executive leadership roles with deep 
operational, risk management and 
technology experience. She is a former 
Partner of PwC, EY and Andersen and 
held senior leadership roles, her last 
executive role was as Global Chief Risk 
O©cer PwC.

She is a member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and Chief Executive 
Women and is a fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand, and Chartered 
Accountants Ireland. She holds a 
Bachelor of Economics and Social 
Studies from Trinity College Dublin  
and is a Fellow of the Vincent Fairfax 
Centre for Ethical Leadership.

Appointed 5 April 2023
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Governance Statement
This statement outlines the MSO’s corporate governance 
practices and compliance in line with Australia Council 
for the Arts’ Five Essential Governance Principles for Arts 
Organisations, authored by Dr Judith S. MacCormick and 
Bruce Rolph, published by the Australia Council for the Arts, 
January 2021.

To ensure sound governance of the organisation, the MSO 
Board works to:

1. Ensure alignment of actions and decisions towards 
delivering on the organisation’s mission, while 
demonstrating its values.

2. Contribute to the development of a sound strategic plan 
to deliver on the vision and identi�ed outcomes.

3. Monitor and review activities and the organisation’s 
�nancial position and remunerate fairly and responsibly.

4. Manage risk and compliance, along with ensuring 
reporting requirements are met.

5. Engage with stakeholders and instill the right 
organisational culture.

In 2023, the primary role of the Board of Directors was to 
guide the implementation of the MSO’s strategic objectives 
to ensure reserves are suitably replenished and a long term, 
�nancially sustainable future for the Orchestra can be 
secured.

Key activities undertaken by the Board in 2023 included:

• Oversight on the wellbeing of MSO’s people and the 
Orchestra’s �nancial position.

• Approval of the 2025–2028 Strategic Plan.

• Approval of the MSO’s new Vision, Mission and Values.

• Approval of the four-year agreement between the MSO 
and Royal Academy of Music (UK).

• Approval of the extension to the agreement between the 
MSO and the National Centre for Performing Arts (NCPA; 
Beijing).

• Completion of the biennial external Board evaluation.

• Oversight of the MSO’s capital project, the MSO Music 
Hub.

• Review of the MSO’s investment framework and 
appointment of new fund manager.

The MSO also works to re�ect the communities with 
whom it engages. In establishing measurable objectives 
for achieving diversity in the areas of, but not limited to, 
gender, age, ethnicity, disability and cultural background, 
the MSO will be able to assess and report on its progress 
and achievements.

Throughout the year, the Board delegates the management 
of the organisation to the Managing Director and Senior 
Management team, and governs each of the MSO’s 
signi�cant business streams, supported by Board sub-
committees. Membership of the sub-committees includes 
Board members, Senior Management and external 
representatives as required. The Chair of each sub-
committee acts as a Board interface by representing the 
Board and reporting back at full Board meetings.

The current sub-committee structure includes �ve sub-
committees, each chaired by a di�erent Board member, 
 with the following areas of responsibility:

1.  Governance Committee  
– Chair, Helen Silver AO 

• Overall Governance

• Board recruitment, division of roles and performance

• Succession planning

• Managing Director assessment and compensation 

2.  Finance Committee  
– Chair, Di Jameson OAM

• Audit

• Earned income streams

• Organisational risk

• Review of management framework

• Driving diversity in audiences, government funding, 
performance revenue streams/pro�tability 

The MSO’s Finance Committee independently veri�es and 
safeguards the integrity of its organisational risk compliance 
reporting and ensures the �nancial records of the MSO have 
been properly maintained. It provides a true and fair view of  
the short- and long-term �nancial position and performance  
of the Orchestra, based on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control.

3.  Foundation Committee  
– Chair, Glenn Sedgwick (to June 2023)  
and Farrel Meltzer (from June 2023)

• Contributed revenue streams

• The structure of MSO Foundation Committee

• Development portfolios: Philanthropy, Corporate

• Sponsorship, Trusts and Foundations

• Fundraising campaigns

• MSO investments and investment strategy

The purpose of the Foundation Committee is to raise and 
accumulate capital to ensure the long-term viability and 
�nancial security of the MSO, and to fund special initiatives.

4.  Learning and Engagement Committee  
– Chair, Gary McPherson

• Strategy and assessment of e�ective programs and policy

• Champion for Music Education – advocacy

5.  Music Hub Committee  
– Chair, Margaret Jackson AC

The medium-term purposes of the Committee are to oversee 
the fundraising strategy and the development of the Music 
Hub at 63-69 City Road, Southbank, Victoria.

The MSO sets out an expectation that directors are deeply 
connected to the mission of the organisation, and as a result 
will participate in and support the Company’s operations, 
for example as a subscriber and by regular attendance at 
concerts and special events. Furthermore, directors have 
represented the MSO at numerous events during the year.

MSO directors’ positions are on an honorary basis, and 
non-executive directors and the Company Secretary do 
not receive remuneration for their roles as directors of the 
Company. Board members all make philanthropic gifts.
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External Representatives
The MSO Board of Directors wish to acknowledge the 
following external representatives for the MSO Board sub-
committees for their signi�cant contribution in 2023:

Oliver Carton (Company Secretary)

Caroline Stuart (Board Observer)

Governance Committee: 

Carolyn Baker

Learning and Engagement Committee: 

Robert Breen

Simon Warrender

Alice Rudd 

The Hon Chris Pearce MP

Finance Committee: 

Kristen Hilton

Lisa Maimone

Board Skills
A summary of Board skills, which includes the mix of 
professional competencies, including those trained as 
classical musicians, and diversity of its membership, is 
updated with each Board appointment. Currently, the MSO 
Board includes directors with a range of skills including:

• Not-For-Pro�t

• Arts Management

• Finance, Accounting and Investment

• Business and Commercial Experience (Public Companies 
and Small Business)

• Law

• Government Relations

• Marketing

• Governance

• Music and Cultural Industries

• Sustainability

• Fundraising

• IT and Digital

• Risk Management and Compliance

An MSO employee-elected director is also included on the 
Board, elected for a three-year term.

Internal Assessment
The following MSO Management sub-committees are 
charged with the responsibility of meeting throughout 
the year to oversee the MSO’s internal review and self-
assessment processes:

1. MSO Artistic Committee

The MSO Artistic Committee is omprised of the Director  
of Programming, Chief Operating O©cer and management 
representatives, the Chief Conductor, Concertmaster(s),  
and elected musicians. Its main purpose is to review:

• All performances including soloists, conductors and 
programming choices.

• Orchestral performance standards.

• Annual repertoire and season plans.

2. Two MSO Consultative Committees

Two MSO Consultative Committees for musicians and 
administrative sta�. The committees’ roles include the 
discussion of day-today MSO operations as they relate to 
the Musicians and Sta� Enterprise Agreements.

• The Musicians Consultative Committee consists of 
members of the Players’ Committee and Players’ 
Executive, plus management representatives including the 
Chief Operating O©cer.

• The Sta� Consultative Committee includes 
representatives from across administrative sta�, including 
the Chief Operating O©cer.

3. MSO Chorus Committee 

The MSO Chorus Committee, made up of eight singers, 
management representatives, and the Chief Operating 
O©cer, meets to discuss engagement opportunities for 
the Chorus, programming and issues of artistic quality and 
performance standards.

4. Occupational Health and Safety Committee

The Occupational Health and Safety Committee consists 
of two elected Health and Safety representatives from 
the Orchestra, plus the Chief Operating O©cer and 
representatives from across the Orchestra, Sta� and Chorus. 
The committee monitors standards of occupational health, 
safety and rehabilitation and initiates plans and procedures 
with a view to minimising the e�ects of workplace hazards. 
The MSO continues to work diligently to maintain a formal 
and transparent procedure for managing the artistic 
pro�ciency of its orchestral musicians. This process 
continues to be re�ned.

DESCRIPTION NO OF MEETINGS

Board Meeting 6

Finance Committee 6

Foundation Committee 4

Governance Committee 3

Learning and Engagement Committee 4

Music Hub Committee 4

2023 Board And Sub-Commi�ee Meetings
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Directors’ Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Directors present their report together with the �nancial report of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty 
Limited (the Company) for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the �nancial year and until the date of this report are as follows: 

Name Date of Appointment

David Li AM (Chairman) 1 July 2013 (Chairman from 30 April 2021)

Diane Jameson OAM (Co-Deputy Chair) 10 April 2018 (Co-Deputy Chair from 30 April 2021) 

Helen Silver AO (Co-Deputy Chair) 14 January 2015 (Co-Deputy Chair from 30 April 2021, 
resigned 14 January 2024)

Margaret Jackson AC 8 May 2015 (Co-Deputy Chair from 15 January 2024)

Shane Buggle 18 August 2021

Andrew Dugdeon AM 27 February 2019

Martin Foley 22 March 2023

Daniel Gorog 19 February 2014 (Resigned 19 February 2023)

Sophie Galaise (Managing Director) 21 April 2016

Lorraine Hook 27 February 2019

David Krasnostein AM 12 August 2014 (Resigned 14 June 2023)

Gary McPherson 18 August 2021

Farrel Meltzer 22 November 2022

Edgar Myer 17 March 2023

Hyon-Ju Newman 14 February 2017 (Resigned 12 May 2023)

Glenn Sedgwick 10 April 2018 (Resigned 10 April 2024)

Mary Waldron 05 April 2023

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Oliver Carton

Mr Demetrio Zema

Appointed 16 February 2004 (Resigned 31 December 2023)

Co-secretary from 01 January 2024

Appointed 21 March 2024

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the �nancial year, the principal activities of the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra were:

• the performance of symphonic music on stage;

• live-streaming music experiences via digital channels;

• delivery of learning and community outreach activities on-stage and online.

There was no signi�cant change in the nature of the activities of the Company during the year.
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REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The total comprehensive income for the year ending 31 December 2023 was a surplus of $213,019 (2022: 
$2,367,279). The impact of the change in fair value of �nancial assets was a gain of $215,213 in 2023, compared 
to a loss of $828,093 in 2022. The Company received $116,607 in donations of endowment nature in 2023 (2022: 
$768,483), in addition to $350,000 capital donations of special purposes (2022: $2,350,000).

The Company continued to face operational and �nancial challenges due to the impact of the skill shortages 
and in�ation with Australia’s rising cost of living, and the Company’s operating result for the year was a de�cit 
of ($468,801) (2022: $76,889). This is before recognising the impact of the change in fair value of �nancial 
assets, special purpose donations for future capital project recognised as income in the current year, and capital 
protected bequests and endowed gifts.

The table below presents the operating result for the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra for the year ended  
31 December 2023.

THE MELBOURNE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 
MANAGEMENT OPERATING STATEMENT

2023 2022

Revenues $ $

Public Funding 1 14,929,934 19,095,026

Private Funding 2 5,746,311 5,801,595

Earned Income 3 18,259,455 10,338,882

Other 1,435,266 698,504

Total Income 40,370,965 35,934,007

Expenses

Employee Expenses 22,328,700 20,428,546

Artistic Programming  
and production

12,199,925 8,989,927

Marketing Expenses 2,392,121 2,889,503

Other Expenses 3,919,020 3,549,143

Total Expenses 40,839,766 35,857,118

Operating Surplus prior to fair 
value adjustment, endowment 
and capital donations

(468,801) 76,889

Donations of Endowment Nature 116,607 768,483

Special Purposes Donations 350,000 2,350,000

Changes in Fair Value of Financial 
Assets 215,213 (828,093)

Surplus 213,019 2,367,279

1. Public Funding  — Revenue received from Government Sources
2. Private Funding — Revenue received from Sponsorships and Donations
3. Earned Income — Revenue received from Tickets Sales and Hires
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne  VIC  3000  Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne  VIC  3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Melbourne Symphony 
Orchestra Pty Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023, and in accordance with the requirements of Subdivision 60-C 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, there have been:

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of any applicable code of 
professional conduct; and

b. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Alison Park
Partner
24 April 2024
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note 2023 2022

$ $

REVENUES

Government Funding – direct 3a 656,045 5,123,416 

Government Funding – via parent entity 3b 14,273,889 13,971,610 

Ticket sales 4 17,620,402 9,950,023 

Sponsorship and donation revenue 5 5,950,091 8,681,240 

Other revenue 6 2,074,319 1,087,363 

Other income from �nancial assets 7 262,826 238,838 

Change in fair value of �nancial assets 215,213 –

Total Revenues 41,052,785 39,052,490 

EXPENSES

Employee expenses 22,328,700 20,428,546 

Artists fees and expenses 5,785,069 2,988,030 

Marketing expenses 2,392,121 2,889,503 

Production expenses 6,414,856 6,001,897 

Selling expenses 492,531 337,326 

Depreciation and amortisation 8 196,646 214,799 

Orchestra service fee 100,000 100,000 

Other expenses 3,129,843 2,897,017

Financial Asset Revaluation Loss – 828,093

Total Expenses 40,839,766 36,685,211 

Surplus 213,019 2,367,279

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 213,019 2,367,279

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
to the �nancial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note 2023 2022

$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 16 4,466,404 6,565,322

Other �nancial assets 11 6,480,905 4,996,104 

Receivables 9 363,783 458,257

Other 10 2,051,537 1,148,900 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 13,362,629 13,168,583

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 12 13,636,256 13,709,783

Intangible assets 13 108,132 135,995 

Capital Work-in-Progress – 89,970 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 13,744,388 13,935,748 

TOTAL ASSETS 27,107,017 27,104,331

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 14 5,230,552 5,019,802

Unearned Revenue 4,966,227 5,705,456 

Provisions 17 3,948,369 3,492,243

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,145,148 14,217,501

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 17 973,957 1,111,937

Interest bearing loan – –

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 973,957 1,111,937

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,119,105 15,329,438

NET ASSETS 11,987,912 11,774,893

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Contributed equity 15 438,002 438,002 

MSO Reserves 22 11,549,910 11,336,891

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11,987,912 11,774,893

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
to the �nancial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Equi�
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Contributed 
Equity 

Retained  
Surplus / (de�cit)

 MSO 
Foundation 

Reserves 

 Total Equity

(Note 15) (Note 22(a)) (Note 22(b)) 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ $ $ $ 

As at 31 December 2021 438,002 (1,685,705) 10,655,317 9,407,614

Total comprehensive 
income

– 2,367,279 – 2,367,279

Transferred to reserves – (257,151) 257,151 –

As at 31 December 2022 438,002 424,423 10,912,468 11,774,893

Total comprehensive 
income

– 213,019 – 213,019

Transferred to reserves – (166,552) 166,552 –

As at 31 December 2023 438,002 470,890 11,079,020 11,987,912

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
to the �nancial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note 2023 2022

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from government funding (incl GST) 16,351,789 21,094,504

Receipts from ticket sales 16,281,671 12,219,445

Receipts from sponsorships (incl GST) and donations 5,888,647 9,579,681

Receipts from other revenue 2,582,462 1,252,436

Interest received 54,965 12,391

Payments to suppliers, employees and artists (incl GST) (42,255,420) (37,541,024)

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/PROVIDED BY OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

(1,095,887) 6,617,433

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Transfers to �nancial assets (1,000,000) –

Proceeds from sale of �nancial assets – 6,000,000 

Payment for Capital Work-in-Progress – (72,134)

Payment for property, plant and equipment (3,031) (13,608,715)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,003,031) (7,680,849)

 NET DECREASE IN CASH HELD (2,098,918) (1,063,416)

Cash & Cash equivalents  
at the beginning of the �nancial year 6,565,322 7,628,738

CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 16 4,466,404 6,565,322

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
to the �nancial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The �nancial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 was authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of Directors on 24 April 2024.

The Company is a proprietary limited company incorporated in Australia. The ultimate parent of the Company is 
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited (MSOHL).

MSOHL is a public company limited by guarantee and was incorporated in Australia on 19 October 2006 and 
subsequently purchased all shares in the Company from the Australian Broadcasting Corporation (ABC) for $10.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are described in the Directors’ Report.

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of preparation

The �nancial report is a general-purpose �nancial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Australian Charities and Not for Pro�ts Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simpli�ed Disclosures, and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and, except where there has been a 
change in accounting policy, are consistent with those of the previous period.

The �nancial report is presented in Australian dollars.

Going Concern

The �nancial report has been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become payable for a period of at least 12 months from the date of the �nancial report.

As disclosed in Note 23, The Company is economically dependent on the ongoing annual funding from the 
Australian and Victorian Governments through a multipartite agreement and 2024 is the �nal year of the existing 
4-year funding agreement under the National Performing Arts Partnership Framework as an approved Partner 
organisation. Under the funding agreement, the Company receives the stability of four years of investment, 
through the funding framework. While a new agreement is not con�rmed, information available to date indicates 
the Company will be able to secure funding for an additional 4 years from 1 January 2025.

The �nancial statements have been prepared based upon conditions existing at 31 December 2023. Having 
carefully assessed the current forecasts, taking into consideration the existing 4-year funding framework for the 
Company as an approved Partner organisation, the in-principle commitment for a further four-year investment 
through the framework, and the Company meeting its performance expectations, the Directors have determined 
that the going concern basis remains appropriate for the preparation of these �nancial statements.

b) Statement of compliance

The Company has adopted AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simpli�ed Disclosures for  
For-Pro�t and Not-for-Pro�t Tier 2 Entities for the �nancial year beginning 1 January 2021.

The Company is a not-for-pro�t, private sector entity which is not publicly accountable under Australian 
Accounting Standards. Therefore, the �nancial statements for the Company are tier 2 general purpose �nancial 
statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simpli�ed 
Disclosures (AASB – SD) (Including Australian interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Australian Charities and Not for Pro�ts Commission Act 2012.

Other than the change in disclosure requirements, the adoption of AASB 1060 has had no signi�cant impact on 
the entity’s �nancial statements because the entity’s previous �nancial statements complied  
with Australian Accounting Standards – Simpli�ed Disclosures.

20
23

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t

100

207



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
c) Revenue recognition 

Revenues are recognised when an entity satis�es a performance obligation by transferring a promised good 
or service to a customer. AASB 1058 establishes principles for not-for-pro�t entities to recognise income on 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is signi�cantly less than fair value principally to enable 
a NFP to further its objectives. The excess of the asset recognised over any “related amounts” is recognised as 
income immediately. The Company has not entered into any transactions where the consideration to acquire an 
asset is signi�cantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the Company to further its objectives. 

Ticket sales
Ticket sales are recognised at the time of concert performance. The value of tickets sold in advance of each 
concert is recorded as prepaid ticket sales and recognised as a liability. 

Sponsorship revenue 
Sponsorship revenue is recognised in the period to which the sponsorships relate. Sponsorships which relate to 
speci�c performances are recognised at the time of concert performance. Sponsorship revenue is traditionally 
paid in advance and the value of unearned sponsorship revenue is recognised as a liability.

Government funding revenue 
Funding revenue comprises funding from the Federal Government, the State Government of Victoria and local 
governments.

The current tripartite funding agreement between MSOHL, the Creative Australia through the Major Performing 
Arts Board, and the Victorian Ministry for Creative Industries, through Creative Victoria, is for a period of four 
years ending 31 December 2024. 

Funding revenue is recognised when due under the terms of the funding agreement. Special purpose funding, 
which requires the Company to ful�l an obligation outside its normal operations, is recognised at the time the 
obligation is ful�lled.

Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised in the period to which the grants relate. Grants which relate to 
speci�c activities/performances are recognised at the time of activities/concert performance.

Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the e�ective yield on the 
�nancial assets.

Sale of �nancial assets 
Gain/(loss) on fair value of �nancial assets is recognised when receivable. Dividends are recognised when the right 
to payment is established.

Sale of non-current assets
The gross proceeds of non-current asset sales are included as revenue at the date control of the asset passes to 
the buyer, usually when an unconditional contract of sale is signed. 

The surplus or de�cit on disposal is calculated as the di�erence between the carrying amount of the asset at the 
time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.

Donations, bequests and grants
Donations collected, including cash and goods for resale, are recognised as revenue upon attaining control over 
the donation and any performance obligations relating to the donation are completed.

d) Income Tax and Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The Company is exempt from income tax as it is an exempt charitable institution in accordance with Subdivision 
50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount 
of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset 
or liability in the Statement of Financial Position. Cash �ows are included in the statement of cash �ows on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash �ows arising from investing and �nancing activities which are recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO are classi�ed as operating cash �ows.

e) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, are carried at 
face value of the amounts deposited. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, including short-term 
deposits, approximate net fair value.
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
f) Receivables 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the e�ective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectible 
are written o� when identi�ed. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there is objective evidence that 
the Company will not be able to collect the debt. Management consider such objective evidence to include, 
but not be limited to formal correspondence from a trade receivable indicating its inability to repay the amount 
outstanding.

g) Other ±nancial assets

Other �nancial assets are externally managed investment portfolios measured at fair value in the manner 
described in Note 11. 

Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss

Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss include �nancial assets held for trading, �nancial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through pro�t or loss, or �nancial assets mandatorily required to 
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classi�ed as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Financial assets with cash �ows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classi�ed and measured 
at fair value through pro�t and loss, irrespective of the business model. Financial assets at fair value through 
the pro�t and loss are carried in the statement of �nancial position at fair value with net changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of pro�t or loss.

h) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
All �nancial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,  
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest -bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the e�ective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in pro�t or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on initial recognition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included as �nance costs in the statement of pro�t or loss.

Derecognition
A �nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. 
When an existing �nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially di�erent terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modi�ed, such an exchange or modi�cation is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The di�erence in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of pro�t or loss.

O�setting of �nancial instruments
Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are o�set and the net amount is reported in the statement of �nancial position 
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to o�set the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

During the �nancial year, the Company held a loan facility of $7,500,000 with its bankers National Australia Bank.  
As at the date of this report, this loan facility of $7,500,000 is undrawn and the Company can access these funds 
until October 2025, when this facility will expire.

i) Impairment of non-±nancial assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets that have an inde�nite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identi�able cash in�ows that are largely independent of the cash in�ows from other assets or groups 
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-�nancial assets other than goodwill that su�ered impairment are tested for 
possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the impairment may 
have reversed.
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
j) Property, plant and equipment 

All items of property, plant and equipment are carried at their historical cost of acquisition, being the fair value of 
the consideration provided plus the incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition, less any accumulated 
impairment losses, less accumulated depreciation. The Company elected to adopt the cost model as an 
accounting policy to subsequently measure land as a class of PP&E.

Subsequent additional costs 
Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic 
bene�ts, in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset, will �ow to the Company  
in future years. 

Costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods of all items of plant and equipment are reviewed and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each �nancial year-end.

Intangible assets
Intangible Assets are the accumulation of costs associated with the development the Company’s website.  
IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are related 
to external direct costs of materials and service and payroll related costs relating to the time spent by those 
employees directly engaged on the project.

Capital Work in Progress
Capital Work in Progress is measured at cost. Assets will be recognised and depreciated using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives when assets are ready for use.

k) Leases

The Company recognises assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value. The Company uses the modi�ed retrospective approach and elected to adopt the 
relief under AASB 2019-8 to utilise the cost option on transition for the Company’s peppercorn leases. 

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of venues 
and car parking that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT and o©ce 
equipment. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

k) Depreciation 

Useful lives
Items of plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, computer equipment, motor vehicle and musical 
instruments are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are 
depreciated from the date of acquisition. Land that quali�es for recognition as an asset is measured at cost 
on acquisition. The cost of acquisition includes both the purchase price and other directly attributable costs. 
Subsequently, land is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness. Depreciation is expensed.

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:

Asset class Depreciation rates

Plant & equipment 10%–30%

Musical instruments 10%–20%

Computer equipment 20%–30%

Leasehold improvement 10%–33.3%

Motor vehicle 30%

Land held by the Company is not depreciated due to the unlimited useful life
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
m) Payables 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Company prior to the end of the �nancial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

n) Employee bene±ts 

Employee bene�ts comprise wages and salaries, annual and long service leave, and contributions to 
superannuation plans. 

Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are recognised in 
other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. Liabilities for annual leave in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date which are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the period in which the employees render the related services are recognised in the provision for annual leave. Both 
liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Long service leave
The provision for employee bene�ts to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash 
out�ows to be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the reporting date.

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates, including related on-costs, 
and expected settlement rates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attaching to corporate 
bonds at balance date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.

o) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the �nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that a�ect the reported amounts in the �nancial statements. Management continually evaluates 
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. The 
following critical accounting policies have been identi�ed for which signi�cant judgements, estimates and 
assumptions are made.

Provision for employee bene�ts
Probabilities regarding sta� turnover, when sta� take leave and future wage rates are based on historical 
experience.

p) Comparatives

Where a change in accounting treatment has resulted in signi�cant di�erences between �nancial years, prior year 
data has been reclassi�ed to assist comparison. 
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2023 2022

$ $

3. FUNDING REVENUE
a) Government Funding – direct

Commonwealth Government

COVID-19 Arts Sustainability Fund – An Australian Government initiative – 4,000,000

National Foundation for Australia-China Relations 119,143 37,520

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development & 
Communications

18,710 –

Federal Government – Dept of Foreign A�airs and Trade – 100,000 

Victoria State Government

COVID-19 Relief – 500,000

Creative Victoria – Melbourne Symphony Orchestra  
Chorus Grant 125,590 125,590 

Creative Victoria – COVID-19 Strategic Investment Fund 82,829 –

Creative Victoria – Regional Tour 159,300 120,000

Creative Victoria – Strategic Initiative – 20,040

Department of Education and Training

Strategic Partnerships Program Funding 35,116 25,714

Victorian Challenge and Enrichment Series – 50,000

Department of Jobs, Precincts & Regions

Let’s Stay Connected Funding – 30,752

Local Governments

City of Melbourne – Annual Grant 105,357 103,800 

Hume City Council – Pizzicato Program 10,000 10,000 

656,045  5,123,416

b) Government Funding – via parent entity

Australia Council for the Arts – Annual Grant 11,925,524 11,657,403 

Arts Victoria - Annual Grant 2,348,365 2,314,207 

14,273,889 13,971,610

Total Funding 14,929,934 19,095,026 

Provision of funds by MSOHL to the Company originates from federal and state governments, through the 
Creative Australia and Creative Victoria and is paid to MSOHL. A funding agreement between MSOHL and 
the Company provides the basis for the funds to be passed to the Company. 
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2023 2022

4. TICKET SALES REVENUE $ $

Subscription sales 2,574,843 2,189,596

Single night ticket sales 15,045,559 7,760,427 

17,620,402 9,950,023

5. SPONSORSHIP AND DONATION REVENUE
Sponsorship 2,085,917 2,295,719 

Donations 2,487,457 2,875,907

Special Donations for future capital project 350,000 2,350,000

Bequests 116,607 83,923 

Grants and trusts 910,110 1,075,691 

5,950,091 8,681,240 

6. OTHER REVENUE
Interest 269,086 130,072 

Orchestral hire & performance fees 639,053 388,859 

Other 1,166,180 568,432 

2,074,319 1,087,363 

7. OTHER INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS
Interest earned from �nancial assets 74,153 76,627 

Dividends 134,083 162,189 

Pro�t on Sale of Financial Assets 54,590 23 

262,826 238,838 

8. EXPENSES
Net Surplus/(De�cit) for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items:

Depreciation:

O©ce equipment, furniture and �ttings 8,005 16,521 

Computers 51,670 59,594 

Leasehold Improvements 4,828 10,743 

Musical instruments 14,310 19,677 

Intangible Assets 117,833 108,264 

Total Depreciation (Note 12) 196,646 214,799 

Lease payments – car 9,526 6,816 

Lease payments – o©ce equipment 13,032 14,796

O©ce outgoings 157,503 143,302 

The Company has applied AASB 16 and elected to adopt the relief under AASB 2019-8 to utilise the cost 
option on transition for the Company’s peppercorn leases. The Company has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of venues and car parking that have a lease term of 12 
months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT and o©ce equipment. The Company recognises 
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2023 2022

9. RECEIVABLES $ $

a) Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade receivables 135,390 90,804

Government funding invoiced in advance 13,463 –

Sponsorship invoiced in advance 77,000 110,945 

GST receivable 137,930 256,508 

363,783 458,257

b) Trade and other debtors ageing:

0 to 60 days 86,688 116,713

61 to 90 days 11,000 947 

Over 90 days 83,641 4,259 

Total trade and other receivables 181,329 121,919

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in 30 days. Other receivables amounts 
generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Company.

10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments 930,398 577,318 

Accrued interest 19,188 –

Accrued revenue 1,101,951 571,582 

Total Other Current Assets 2,051,537 1,148,900 

11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
MSO Foundation externally managed portfolio 5,480,905 4,996,104 

Term Deposit maturing in greater than 3 months 1,000,000 –

6,480,905 4,996,104 
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11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
a) Financial assets

i) Financial assets include:

2023 2022

$ $

Managed funds – Cash 1,093,784 842,287

Managed funds – Credit 1,065,793 1,245,385

Managed funds – Australian equities 2,023,400 2,102,428

Managed funds – International equities 718,023 633,899

Managed funds – Government Bonds 400,051 –

Managed funds – Real assets 179,854 172,105

Term Deposit maturing in greater than 3 months 1,000,000 –

6,480,905 4,996,104

Investments are designated as fair value through pro�t and loss �nancial assets if they do not have 
�xed maturities and �xed or determinable payments, and management intends to hold them for the 
medium to long term. 

ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair value: 
Speci�c valuation techniques used to value �nancial instruments include quoted market prices for 
similar instruments.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 Property, 
plant and 

equipment

Musical 
instruments 

O´ce 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Computer 
equipment 

Motor  
Vehicle

Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost:

Opening balance 13,757,232 1,452,672 257,947 146,508 677,075 10,000 16,301,434 

Additions 5,286 – 5,286 

Disposal – – – – (2,254) – (2,254)

Closing Balance 13,757,232 1,452,672 257,947 146,508 680,106  10,000 16,304,465 

Accumulated 
depreciation:

Opening balance 187,901 1,411,564 239,146 146,963  596,077 10,000  2,591,651 

Depreciation 
expense (Note 8) – 14,310 8,005 4,828  51,670 –  78,813 

Disposal – – – – (2,254) – (2,254)

Closing balance 187,901 1,425,874 247,151 151,791 645,492  10,000  2,668,209 

Net book value,  
31 December 2023 13,569,331 26,798 10,796 (5,283) 34,614 – 13,636,256

Net book value,  
31 December 2022 13,569,331  41,108 18,801 (455) 80,998 – 13,709,783
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Websites Software Total

$ $ $

Cost:

Opening balance 447,927 329,088 777,015 

Additions – 89,970 89,970 

Closing balance 447,927 419,058 866,985 

Accumulated amortisation:

Opening balance 335,536 305,484 641,019 

Amortisation expense (Note 8) 84,603 33,230 117,833 

Closing balance 420,139 338,714 758,852 

Net book value, 31 December 2023 27,788 80,344 108,132 

Net book value, 31 December 2022 112,391 23,604 135,995

14. PAYABLES
2023 2022

$ $

Trade creditors 1,432,260 2,424,138

Other creditors and accruals 3,307,617 1,915,564 

Unearned government funding 157,816 225,586 

Unearned sponsorship revenue 162,858 75,833 

Unearned other revenue 170,001 378,681 

Total Payables 5,230,552 5,019,802

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled in 30 days.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Share capital

438,002 (2022: 438,002) ordinary shares, fully paid 438,002 438,002

On 31 December 2006 MSOHL purchased all shares of the Company that were previously 
held by the ABC.
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2023 2022

$ $

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For the purposes of the statement of cash �ows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash assets as at the end of the 
�nancial year as shown in the statement of cash �ows are as follows:

Cash 4,466,404 6,565,322 

Total 4,466,404 6,565,322

The Company has $4,466,404 Cash equivalents at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: $6,565,322). 

17. PROVISIONS
Employee Bene�ts

Current

Annual Leave 1,481,309 1,354,001

Long Service Leave 2,467,060 2,138,242

3,948,369 3,596,363

Non-current

Annual Leave 401,462 518,226 

Long Service Leave 572,495 593,711

Total 4,922,326 4,604,180 

Assumed rate of increase in wage and salary rates 3.0% 2.5%

Discount rate (weighted average) 1.0% 2.8%

Full-time equivalent employees at year-end 164.62 153.80 
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18. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
a) Details of Key Management Personnel

(i) Directors

The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of directors held during the year ended 31 December 2023, and 
the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Name Position Held Held Eligible Attended

David Li AM (Chairman) Chairman, Non-Executive Director 6 6 5

Diane Jameson OAM Co-Deputy Chair, Non-Executive Director 6 6 6

Helen Silver AO Co-Deputy Chair, Non-Executive Director 6 6 4

Shane Buggle Non-Executive Director 6 6 6

Andrew Dugdeon AM Non-Executive Director 6 6 4

Martin Foley Non-Executive Director 6 5 4

Daniel Gorog Non-Executive Director 6 0 0

Sophie Galaise Managing Director 6 6 6

Lorraine Hook Non-Executive Director 6 6 6

Margaret Jackson AC Non-Executive Director 6 6 5

David Krasnostein AM Non-Executive Director 6 2 2

Gary McPherson Non-Executive Director 6 6 5

Farrel Meltzer Non-Executive Director 6 6 5

Edgar Myer Non-Executive Director 6 5 4

Hyon-Ju Newman Non-Executive Director 6 2 2

Glenn Sedgwick Non-Executive Director 6 6 4

Mary Waldron Non-Executive Director 6 5 5

b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel

2023 2022

Compensation  1,742,552 1,887,760

Key management personnel comprise board-appointed personnel and other persons having the responsibilities for 
planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company. The Directors positions are on an honorary 
basis, as such, Non-Executive Directors do not receive remuneration for their role as a Director of the Company.

c) Transactions with key management personnel

Refer to note 19 for transactions between the Company and key management personnel. 
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19. RELATED PARTIES
a) Directors

The names of each person holding the position of Director of the Company during the �nancial year are 
detailed in the Directors’ Report and note 18(a).

b) Parent Entities 

The ultimate holding company of the Company is MSOHL which owns 100% of the equity in the Company. 
The Directors of MSOHL are also Directors of the Company. An agreement between MSOHL and the 
Company exists whereby MSOHL has agreed to fund the Company via contributions from the Creative 
Australia through the Major Performing Arts Board and the Victoria Ministry for Creative Industries through 
Creative Victoria. A service agreement that is governed by the contents of the Tripartite Agreement exists 
between the two entities MSOHL and the Company. Corporate costs associated with MSOHL have been met 
by the Company. 

c) Key Management Personnel

Details of compensation for key management personnel are in note 18(b). 

d) Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

i)  Donations 
Donations received from Directors and director-related entities in 2023 were $919,077  
(2022: $1,934,785).

ii) Sponsorship 
Sponsorship from Director-related entities in 2023 was $50,000 (2022: $50,000).

iii) Complimentary tickets 
From time to time, complimentary tickets are provided to Board members as part of their role in 
development activities for the Company.

e) Loans to/from related parties

There are no loans to or from the Company with related parties (2022: nil).

f) Symphony Services Australia Limited

Ms Sophie Galaise, a Director of the Company, was a director and appointed the Chair of Symphony Services 
Australia Limited (‘SSA’) on 17 November 2021. SSA provides orchestral services to the Company including the 
provision of artist services, artist liaison support and music library services. In 2023, the Company paid SSA 
$100,000 (2022: $100,000) for SSA’s orchestral services.

g) Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

2023 2022

$ $

20. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Audit of the �nancial report 70,000 70,000 

Total auditor’s remuneration 70,000 70,000 
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2023 2022

$ $

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Artists fees contracted, but not provided for, and payable:

Within one year 2,436,314 1,107,113 

One year or later, but not later than �ve years – –

2,436,314 1,107,113 

Consulting (Professional Services) contracts as per agreements

Within one year 153,153 126,380 

One year or later, but not later than �ve years – –

153,153 126,380 

Oªce outgoings committed as per agreements 1

Within one year 174,455 143,302 

One year or later, but not later than �ve years – –

174,455 143,302 

Venue Hire Commitments 2

Within one year 1,870,971 1,803,600 

One year or later, but not later than �ve years – –

1,870,971 1,803,600 

Oªce Equipment Leases 3

Within one year 13,032 14,796

One year or later, but not later than �ve years – –

13,032 14,796 

Total 4,647,925 3,195,190

Expenditure commitments are contracted up to the following dates:

• Artist fees – December 2024

• Consulting – December 2024

• Rental leases – December 2024

• O©ce equipment – December 2024

• Venue Hire – December 2024

1. The Company has applied AASB 16 and adopt the relief under AASB 2019-8 to utilise the cost option on 
transition for the Company’s peppercorn leases. 

2. The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
of venues and car parking that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The Company recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as expenses.

3. The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets, including IT and o©ce equipment. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2023 2022

$ $

22. RESERVES
a) Retained surplus/(accumulated de±cit)

Retained earnings/(accumulated de�cit) at the beginning of the year 424,423 (1,685,705) 

Surplus from ordinary activities for the year 213,019 2,367,279

Transfer of income earned on and donations  
to the MSO Foundation Reserve (166,552) (257,151)

Balance at year end 470,890 424,423

b) MSO Foundation Reserves

Opening balance 10,912,468 10,655,317 

Transfer from Accumulated de�cit 166,552 257,151

Balance at year end 11,079,020 10,912,468 

Total 11,549,910 11,336,891

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

23. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
Provision of federal and state funding via the parent company, MSOHL, to the Company is in respect of funds 
payable as a result of the Orchestra Review Implementation Funding Agreement. It originates from Federal 
and State Governments, through the Creative Australia and the Victoria Ministry for Creative Industries and is 
paid to MSOHL. A funding agreement between MSOHL and the Company provides the basis for the funds to 
be passed to the Company. As a result, the company is economically dependent on MSOHL, and in turn, on 
the Creative Australia and the Victoria Ministry for Creative Industries.

A multipartite funding agreement between MSOHL, the Creative Australia through the Major Performing 
Arts Board, and the Victoria Ministry for Creative Industries, through Creative Victoria was entered into for a 
period of four years ending 31 December 2024. Under the funding agreement companies receive the stability 
of four years of investment and, through the funding framework, an in-principle commitment for a further 
four-year investment.

The in-principle commitment for subsequent four-year investment is subject to the Company meeting its 
performance expectations and it will also be based on a competitive application. the Company believes it will 
meet its performance expectations and has submitted its application for the next four-year period.

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

25. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Unless otherwise stated in this report, no matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2023 that has 
signi�cantly a�ected, or may signi�cantly a�ect: 

(a) the Company’s operations in future �nancial years, or 

(b) the results of those operations in future �nancial years, or 

(c) the Company’s state of a�airs in future �nancial years.

26. ENTITY INFORMATION 
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated in Australia and 
having its registered o©ce address and principal place of business at:

ABC Southbank Centre 
120–130 Southbank Boulevard 
Southbank VIC 3006

 The postal address of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited is:

GPO Box 9994 
Melbourne VIC 3001
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 
 

 

Ernst & Young 
8 Exhibition Street  
Melbourne  VIC  3000  Australia 
GPO Box 67 Melbourne  VIC  3001 

 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777 
ey.com/au 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Melbourne Symphony 
Orchestra Pty Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited (the Company), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy 
information, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2023 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report 
accompanying the financial report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Page 2

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Ernst & Young

Alison Parker
Partner
Melbourne 
24 April 2024
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Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Limited 
ABN: 47 078 925 658
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ANNEXURE “LZ-7” 

No.      VID 1036 of 2024 
Federal Court of Australia 

District Registry: Victoria 

Division: Fair Work  

Jayson Lloyd Gillham 

Applicant 

Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd ABN 47 078 925 658 and others  
Respondents 
 
 
This is the annexure marked “LZ-7” referred to in the affidavit of LEON ZWIER sworn on 21 

November 2024. 
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ANNEXURE “LZ-8” 

No.      VID 1036 of 2024 
Federal Court of Australia 

District Registry: Victoria 

Division: Fair Work  

Jayson Lloyd Gillham 

Applicant 

Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd ABN 47 078 925 658 and others  
Respondents 
 
 
This is the annexure marked “LZ-8” referred to in the affidavit of LEON ZWIER sworn on 21 

November 2024. 
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ANNEXURE “LZ-9” 

No.      VID 1036 of 2024 
Federal Court of Australia 

District Registry: Victoria 

Division: Fair Work  

Jayson Lloyd Gillham 

Applicant 

Melbourne Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd ABN 47 078 925 658 and others  
Respondents 
 
 
This is the annexure marked “LZ-9” referred to in the affidavit of LEON ZWIER sworn on 21 

November 2024. 
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SYMPHONY SERVICES AUSTRALIA •  TOUR AGREEMENT 
 

GENERAL TERMS & CONDITIONS 
 
These General Terms and Conditions, with the accompanying Schedule form the agreement between Symphony Services 
and the Artist about the Tour (the Agreement). 
 
 

1. Definitions and Interpretation 
 

1.1 In this Agreement: 

(a) Terms set out in the first column of the Schedule have the meaning given to them in the second column of the 
Schedule. Terms set out in the second column of the Schedule have the meaning given to them in that column, 
or in the Itinerary as applicable. 

(b) Force Majeure Event means any event or circumstance, including any act of God, war and other hostilities, 
fire, flood, storms, accidents, strikes, lock-outs, delays in transport, breakdowns in machinery, epidemics, 
pandemics, quarantine restrictions, outbreak of disease or any travel restrictions or bans (including bans on 
non-essential travel) issued by the World Health Organisation or any Australian governmental agency; or 
restrictions or prohibitions or any other acts by any government or semi-government authority, that despite a 
party’s reasonable efforts and without its fault or negligence, it is unable to control and which prevent a party 
from complying with its relevant obligations under this Agreement. 

(c) Member Orchestra means Sydney Symphony Orchestra Holdings Pty Ltd, Melbourne Symphony Orchestra 
Pty Ltd, Adelaide Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd, West Australian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd, Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd and Queensland Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd as applicable.   

(d) Services means the performance of the Artist’s obligations under this Agreement.  

(e) Studio Performance means a recorded or filmed performance given without the physical presence of a 
paying ticketed audience.  

(f) Term means the period starting on the date this Agreement has been signed by or on behalf of both parties 
and continuing until the end of the last day of the Tour Period 

(g) Terms defined the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth) have the same meaning in this Agreement. Any reference to 
money is to Australian currency unless the context expressly requires otherwise. Words importing the singular 
include the plural and vice versa (unless the context requires otherwise). 

 
2. Artist’s obligations  
  

2.1 The Artist must: 
 

(a) perform the Repertoire at all Performances in the Itinerary during the Tour and perform all the Artist’s 
obligations under this Agreement with all due care and skill 

 

(b) be solely responsible for providing and maintaining in good and playable condition throughout the Tour all 
instruments necessary for the Artist’s individual performances required under this Agreement;  

 

(c) comply with all the reasonable directions of Symphony Services and each relevant Member Orchestra in 
relation to the Services; 

 

(d) comply with the policies and procedures of the relevant Member Orchestras and venues, of which the Artist is 
notified;  

 

(e) not at any time be subject to or bound by any agreement precluding the Artist from providing all the Services;  
 

(f) be solely responsible for the Artist’s living expenses in Australia;  
 

(g) be ready, willing, and able to provide the Services, and avoid any circumstance within the Artist’s control which 
may render then unable to fully perform the Services; 

 

(h) maintain appropriate and current medical cover and insurance coverage for personal injury at work in 
connection with the Services, and provide evidence on request of that coverage and its currency;   

 

(i) not by any act or omission bring, or threaten to bring, any discredit on or cause any nuisance or disruption to, 
Symphony Services, its Member Orchestras, their audiences or other entities or broadcasters which directly 
or indirectly participate in the Tour; 

 

(j) never make any derogatory statement regarding Symphony Services, its personnel or its business, or its 
Member Orchestras; 

 
(k) abide by any State or Federal Government directives, policies, advice, and laws in relation to the Services, 

or in relation to any other major event resulting in changed local circumstances;  
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(l) take all reasonable precautions, consistent with performing this Agreement, to maintain the Artist’s health 
and to avoid contracting any infection; 

 
(m) not give any performance, other than the Performances and any Master Class, without the prior written 

permission of Symphony Services; and 
 

(n) once in Australia, prepare for, attend and perform all rehearsals set out in the Itinerary, to a first-class 
professional standard. 

 
2.2 For the purpose of preparing for the Tour, before departure for Australia for the Tour, the Artist must: 
 

(a) obtain at the Artist’s expense the Artist’s own performance material for each of the works in the Repertoire, 
except for those works for which Symphony Services agrees to provide performance material to the Artist; 

 

(b) learn, prepare and rehearse each of the works in the Repertoire to a first-class professional standard; 
 

(c) obtain at the Artist’s expense the services of such suitably qualified persons to assist the Artist in preparing 
for the Tour as may be necessary to ensure that the Artist is capable of performing each of the works to a first-
class professional standard; and 

 
(d) fulfil the necessary requirements of the Australian Department of Immigration and Border Protection in order 

to obtain the relevant working visa valid at least from the Arrival Date until the Tour Completion Date. 
 
3. Repertoire 
 

The Artist will not unreasonably withhold or delay consent to a Repertoire change proposed by any Member Orchestra 
and communicated to the Artist by Symphony Services. 
 

4. Itinerary 
 

4.1 All appearances will be in accordance with the Itinerary, or the final Itinerary where the Itinerary is indicated in the 
Schedule as only preliminary and where Symphony Services provides a final Itinerary to the Artist not later than 14 
days prior to the Arrival Date. 

 
4.2 Symphony Services may vary the Itinerary or final Itinerary in consultation with the Artist, but no Performance can be 

scheduled to occur after the original Tour Completion Date without the Artist's consent (and following such consent, 
the Tour Completion Date will be modified accordingly). 

 
4.3 Without limiting clause 4.2, at any time at least 120 days before the Arrival Date, Symphony Services can nominate 

new Performance dates falling within the period of 24 months from the Arrival Date. If the Artist does not accept those 
nominated Performance dates with 14 days of notice from Symphony Services of its nomination, Symphony Services 
can terminate this Agreement, and no part of the Fee will be payable.  

 
5. Presentation, Nature of Performances, and Use of Artist 
 

5.1 Performances will be produced and presented, including but not limited to staging, venue management, and the printing 
and distribution of concert programs, as determined by Member Orchestras. 

 

5.2 If a Member Orchestra requests a change to the mode of a Performance as set out in the Schedule, the Artist will not 
unreasonably withhold or delay consent to that requested change if it is communicated to the Artist by Symphony 
Services. 

 

5.3 Symphony Services may at its option in respect of any Performance either:  
 

(a) postpone it to such later date as may be agreed; or 
 

(b) substitute a Studio Performance on the same or later date within the Term, 
 
 

and the Artist will be entitled to the full Fee for that option Performance, even if the Artist performs or plays only an 
agreed reduced selection from the Repertoire at that option Performance. 

 

5.4 Symphony Services can determine in its absolute discretion whether to use the Services and Symphony Services will 
have fulfilled its entire obligations to the Artist under this Agreement by paying the Guaranteed Minimum Payment and 
any applicable Air Travel contribution. Symphony Services will have no liability to the Artist, including without limitation 
for loss of opportunity to perform, loss of reputation, cost of preparation, publicity or promotion or otherwise. 

 
6. Exclusivity 
 

6.1 Except with the written consent of Symphony Services the Artist must not provide any services, do any work, make any 
recording or give any musical or theatrical performances or other personal appearances or engagements in Australia 
for any third party during the calendar year that corresponds to the Performance(s) covered by this Agreement. This 
restriction also applies to engagements such as master classes or community functions.  
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7.7 If Symphony Services procures the international airline ticket(s) Symphony Services will also be responsible for the 
domestic airfares referred to in the Schedule or such other transportation within Australia as may be reasonably 
determined by Symphony Services, in consultation with the Artist, which the Artist must then use when travelling within 
Australia for the purposes of this Agreement.  

 

7.8 The Artist will pay any excess baggage charges levied by the carrier, unless agreed otherwise in writing by Symphony 
Services.  

 

7.9 Symphony Services will provide the Artist with ground transportation between the airport and their accommodation on 
arrival and departure provided such transfers occur within 48 hours of the Tour Period, unless otherwise agreed. 
 

7.10 Symphony Services may make use of flights provided under Member Orchestras’ sponsorship arrangements.   
 
8. Publicity and Promotion 
 

8.1 Symphony Services will consult with the Artist about publicity and promotion activities related to the Performances. The 
Artist must undertake such activities, before and during the Tour Period, as reasonably required by Symphony Services. 
The Artist will not undertake any other promotional activities during the Tour (for example to promote the Artist’s 
recordings, publications or other aspects of the Artist’s career) without the prior written agreement of Symphony 
Services in each case. 

 

8.2 Symphony Services can and may authorise its Member Orchestras and their commercial partners to reproduce and 
communicate at any time in any media, excerpts of no more than 10 minutes duration of any audio or visual recording 
of the Artist’s Performances made during the Tour Period for educational purposes, or the purpose of publicising and 
promoting the activities of Symphony Services and any Member Orchestra. 
 

9. Tour Fees and Guaranteed Minimum Payment 
 

9.1 Symphony Services will pay the Artist the Fee per Performance performed, and the Fee per Master Class (if any) given 
by the Artist during the Tour Period. The Tour Fee is the aggregate of such fees. 

 

9.2 The Artist is entitled to a further Fee per Performance for each extra agreed Performance added to the Tour under this 
Agreement.  

 
9.3 The Tour Fees are the aggrerate of all fees payable under clause 9.1 and 9.2 above. 
 
10. Payment of Fees 
 

10.1 Tour Fees are payable if the Artist is not in breach of this Agreement. Tour Fees are inclusive of any superannuation 
contribution Symphony Services is required by law to make.  

 

10.2 Tour Fees are payable as follows: 
 

(a) the total Tour Fee (less applicable withholding tax and superannuation deductions required by Australian law) 
will be paid within ten (10) business days of the conclusion of the Tour Period provided an Australian Business 
Number (ABN) is quoted or has been granted by the Australian Taxation Office.  Payment can be released 
prior to the ABN being obtained at the Artist’s request, however, withholding tax will be deducted. 

 

(b) the superannuation component of each amount will be paid by Symphony Services into the default 
superannuation fund (currently Australian Super), or another complying Australian superannuation fund 
nominated by the Artist. 

 

(c) in addition to taxation deductions, Symphony Services may also deduct by way of set-off from Tour Fees any 
expense incurred by the Artist and billed to Symphony Services which are not part of Symphony Services’ 
required contribution under this Agreement . 

 

(d) Symphony Services can deduct anticipated bank transfer fees from the Tour Fees payment. 
 

(e) Payment will be made by electronic funds transfer to the bank account nominated by the Artist or Agent. 
 

 
10.3 Symphony Services can set off against Tour Fees any amount owed to Symphony Services by the Artist.  
 
11. Responsibility for Payment of Tax 
 

11.1 Symphony Services makes no representation as to liability in any country for, and the Artist indemnifies Symphony 
Services from, payment of taxes on Tour Fees or any other amount payable to the Artist under this Agreement. The 
Artist is solely responsible for the payment of any such taxes. 

 

11.2 The Artist must lodge an Australian tax return under Australian taxation law. 
 
12. Goods and Services Tax  
 

12.1 Expressions used in this Clause 11 have the same meaning given to those expressions in A New Tax System (Goods 
and Services Tax) Act 1999 Cth “the GST Law”. 

 

12.2 Unless otherwise expressly stated, all prices or other sums payable or consideration to be provided under this 
Agreement are exclusive of GST. 
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12.3 Subject to Sub-clause 12.4, if GST is imposed on any Taxable Supply made under or in connection with this Agreement 
(a “GST Amount”), the recipient must pay to the supplier the GST Amount in addition to and (unless otherwise agreed) 
at the same time as payment for the Taxable Supply is required to be made under this Agreement. 

 

12.4 Unless otherwise agreed, the recipient of a Taxable Supply will have no obligation to make any payment in respect of 
that Taxable Supply until the supplier has provided the recipient with a valid Tax Invoice for that Taxable Supply. 

 
13. Artist not an Employee 
 

13.1 The Artist is an independent contractor, and not an employee of Symphony Services or of any Member Orchestra. 
 
14. Recording and Broadcast Rights 
 

 
14.1 Symphony Services or its Member Orchestras may make or cause to be made audio or audio-visual recordings of any 

Performance (each a Recording), and: 
 

(a) Communicate live, or arrange for live communication of any Performance (or make or arrange a delayed 
communication of a Recording of any Performance) on non-commercial television, non-commercial radio or 
any non-commercial online streaming platform;  
 

(b) arrange up to three broadcasts of a Performance, live or delayed on non-commercial television; 
 

(c) communicate or arrange for communication of any Recording of any Performance via non-retainable 
streaming technology only, on any free online service operated by the ABC or by the performing Member 
Orchestra or by the orchestra’s partners for a period of 12 months after the Performance; 
 

(d) edit, remix, and combine any recordings made under this Agreement as deemed necessary by Symphony 
Services; and 
 

(e) Make and keep digital reproductions of each Performance on any online storage location for archival purposes. 
 
14.2 In consideration of the terms of this Agreement, the Artist assigns to Symphony Services, or its nominee all right title 

and interest (including copyright) in each Recording, including as a present assignment of future copyright.  
 
14.3 No Recording can be commercially released for sale without the Artist’s prior consent. For the avoidance of doubt, 

Recordings may be retained indefinitely by Symphony Services or its nominees for archival purposes. 
 
14.4 Symphony Services will use best endeavours to credit the Artist’s performance of the Recordings, in a reasonably 

prominent manner, where practicable and customary. 
 
14.5 Except as provided by Clause 8.2 and in the Schedule, the acquisition by Symphony Services or any other party of 

further broadcast rights in any Performance will be subject to negotiation (and the Artist shall not unreasonably withhold 
the Artist’s consent to any such acquisition).  

 
15. Failure to arrive 
 

15.1 It is an essential term of this Agreement that the Artist will arrive in Australia no later than the Arrival Date of each Tour 
Period. If this does not occur Symphony Services may immediately terminate this Agreement without any further 
payment to the Artist except in instances where: 

 

(a) the Artist’s later arrival is due to circumstances beyond the control of the Artist, and the Artist demonstrates 
that to the reasonable satisfaction of Symphony Services; or 

 

(b) Symphony Services has given its prior written consent to the Artist’s later arrival. 
 
16. Non-Performance 
 

16.1 If the Artist is unable to undertake or to complete any Performance whether through illness or any other cause outside 
the Artist’s control, Symphony Services may at its option and in respect of such Performance: 

 

(a) postpone or substitute under clause 5.3; or 
 

(b) cancel the Artist’s participation in that Performance entirely (and no fee will be payable in relation to that 
Performance); or 

 

(c) terminate this Agreement, with payment of fees only in respect of such Performances and/or Master Classes 
(if any) that have been carried out by the Artist (and where only partially carried out, with payment on a pro-
rata basis), if the Artist’s inability to perform or illness necessitates the cancellation of two or more 
Performances. 

 

16.2 If the Artist is unwilling, refuses, neglects or fails for any cause within the Artist’s control to undertake or complete any 
Performance, Symphony Services may at its option:  
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(a) cancel the Artist’s participation in that Performance entirely and no fee will be payable in relation to that 
Performance; 

 

(b) withhold any moneys due to the Artist where default by the Artist has resulted in cost to Symphony Services or 
any orchestra with whom the Artist is to perform; 

 

(c) deduct from any moneys due to the Artist such proportion of the airfare or Maximum Airfare Reimbursement as 
Symphony Services in its absolute discretion determines is proportionate to the agreed Performances not 
undertaken or completed by the Artist; or 

 
 

(d) terminate this agreement, if the Artist’s refusal or failure to perform necessitates the cancellation of two or more 
Performances, with payment of fees only in respect of such Performances that have been carried out by the 
Artist (and where only partially carried out, with payment on a pro-rata basis) 

 
16.3 If the Fee in relation to a Performance has been reduced in whole or part pursuant to sub-clause 16.1 or 16.2 above, 

the Guaranteed Minimum Payment will be reduced by the same amount. 
 
17. Termination  
 
17.1 For Uncured Breach: Symphony Services may immediately terminate this Agreement if the Artist is in material 

default or breach of any of the Terms of this Agreement and does not remedy the default or breach within 5 days of 
written notice specifying the nature of the default or breach. 

 
17.2 For Misconduct or Inability: Without limiting Symphony Services’ rights, Symphony Services may immediately 

terminate this Agreement at any time without notice if the Artist: 
 

(a) disobeys a reasonable lawful direction of Symphony Services; or 
 

(b) is guilty of serious misconduct in the provision of the Services; 
 

(c) cannot perform any of its obligations under this Agreement due to a Force Majeure event. 
 
17.3 For Convenience: Symphony Services may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving the Artist prior written 

notice of termination. On termination under this clause, the Artist’s entitlement to the Fee is as follows: 
 

(a) If Symphony Services terminates this Agreement more than 90 days before the Arrival Date, 
Symphony Services will pay the Artist 25% of the Fee; 

 
(b) If Symphony Services terminates this Agreement between 90 and 28 days before Arrival Date, 

Symphony Services will pay the Artist 50% of the Fee; 
 

(c) If Symphony Services terminates this Agreement less than 28 days before Arrival Date, Symphony 
Services will pay the Artist 100% of the Fee. 

 
18. Illness 
 

18.1 In the case of illness, Symphony Services or any Member Orchestra may require the production of a verifying medical 
certificate to be furnished by a doctor nominated by Symphony Services or the Member Orchestra. 

 
19. Announcement of Tour 
 

19.1 Only Symphony Services can make the first public announcement of the Tour. 
 
20. Release by Artist 
 

20.1 To the full extent allowed by law the Artist releases and indemnifies Symphony Services and each Member Orchestra: 
 

(a) for any loss, claims, injury or damages (including any legal costs properly incurred) which results either directly 
or indirectly from any breach by the Artist of the obligations in this Agreement; 

  

(b) from all liability for any medical, hospital or like expenses incurred by the Artist during, and from all liability for 
loss or damage to the Artist’s personal property incurred during, the Term (including the period of travel to and 
from Australia); it being intended that all such expenses, liability, losses and damage will be solely the Artist’s 
responsibility. 

 
21. Confidentiality 
 
21.1 Subject to Clause 21.2, the Artist must maintain in confidence all Confidential Information and ensure that the 

Confidential Information is kept confidential except where Symphony Services has given prior written consent for the 
disclosure.  

 
21.2 The Artist may disclose Confidential Information that: 
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(a) The Artist is required by law to disclose, in which case it must immediately notify Symphony Services of the 
requirement and must take lawful steps, and permit Symphony Services, to oppose or restrict the disclosure 
to preserve, as far as possible, the confidentiality of the Confidential Information; or 

 
(b) is in, or enters the public domain for reasons other than a breach of this Agreement by the Artist. 

 
21.3 “Confidential Information” means all information about Symphony Services’ business or financial affairs including 

(but not limited to) customers, employees, trade secrets, discoveries, inventions, and specialised knowledge or 
practices, including the details of this Agreement. 

 
 
    
22. Entire Agreement 
 

22.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the Parties (and supersedes all prior agreements, if any) in relation 
to its subject matter. There are no conditions, warranties, promises or obligations written or oral, express or implied, in 
relation to that subject matter other than those expressly stated in this Agreement or necessarily implied by law. This 
Agreement can only be modified by written instrument signed by both Parties except pursuant to specific provisions of 
this Agreement. 

 
23. Agreement Conditional upon Immigration Approval 
 

23.1 It is a condition precedent of this Agreement that the Tour is approved by the Australian Department of Home Affairs. 
If for any reason that approval is not provided this Agreement will terminate when Symphony Services notifies the Artist 
and neither party will have any obligation to the other as a consequence of the termination.  

 
24. Force Majeure 
 

24.1 Subject to clause 24.4, neither party will be liable, or in default of this Agreement, for any failure or delay performing 
any obligation under this Agreement due to a Force Majeure Event, provided that the parties use their best endeavours 
to work together and take appropriate steps to mitigate their losses. This may include agreeing to modify the scope of 
the Performance, re-schedule any Performance dates, or amend the Itinerary in the Performance Schedule to the 
extent that it does not unreasonably disadvantage a party to do so. 

 
24.2 If only some and not all the Performances are cancelled due to a Force Majeure Event, the “Tour Fees" will be deemed 

a pro-rated amount of the original Tour Fee based on the ratio Performances so cancelled bears to the Performances 
in the original Itinerary. 

 
24.3 If, within 7 days of notice under clause 24.4, the parties are unable to mutually agree to an alternate means to conduct 

a Performance that has been impacted by a Force Majeure Event, then that Performance can be cancelled at the 
election of Symphony Services, and the parties shall have no further liability to each other under this Agreement in 
relation to that Performance. 
 

24.4 A party cannot rely on clauses 24.1, 24.2 or 24.3 of this Agreement unless it has notified the other party in writing as 
soon as it is apparent that the Performance, or any other obligation under this Agreement, will be affected by the Force 
Majeure Event. Such notice shall give a full description of the Force Majeure Event and its effect (or likely effect) on 
the Performance or other obligations of the party seeking to rely on those sub- clauses. 

 
25. Execution by Authorised Signatory 
 
25.1 Where the Schedule refers to an Agent who is the Artist’s authorised signatory, that person represent and warrants, 

for themselves, that they are authorised to sign and bind the Artist to this Agreement, and they indemnify Symphony 
Services from any costs, liability or other damage Symphony Services directly incurs as result of that representation 
and warranty ever being false. The Agent will, on request, provide evidence satisfactory to Symphony Services, of 
their authority to bind the Artist and to otherwise act as the Artist’s agent in connection with the Services. 

 
26. Applicable Law and Jurisdiction 
 

26.1 This Agreement is subject to the laws of the State of New South Wales, Australia. Any dispute under this Agreement 
or its performance is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales. 

 
27. Miscellaneous 
 

27.1 No waiver by a Party of any breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement will be construed as a waiver of any 
preceding or succeeding breach of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

27.2 If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any statute or court to be illegal, invalid, void or voidable, the 
remainder of this agreement will continue in full force and effect. 

 

27.3 Nothing in this Agreement will be construed as constituting a partnership, joint venture, employment or agency 
relationship between the parties. Neither party has the right or authority to bind the other by any representation, 
declaration or admission, or to make any contract or commitment on the other’s behalf, or to pledge the other’s credit. 
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27.4 The Artist’s rights and obligations under this Agreement are personal and cannot not be assigned or dealt with in any 
way without the prior written approval of Symphony Services. 

 
27.5 Termination of this Agreement does not affect the rights the parties accrued under it, and Clauses 2.1(j), 8.2, 14, 20 

and 21 survive termination of the Term. 
 
27.6 Symphony Services can assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part to one or more 

Member Orchestra. 
 

- End - 
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SYMPHONY SERVICES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
 

PRELIMINARY ITINERARY – 2024 
(Annexure 1 to the Agreement) 

Jayson Gillham, piano

Tour Period: 9 – 15 August 
 

Sun 4 Aug 
 
9:00am Depart London (Gatwick)/ Qatar QR 330 
 
5:35pm Arrive Doha 
 
8:15pm Depart Doha/ Qatar QR 904 
 

Mon 5 Aug 
 
4:45pm Arrive Melbourne 

Tue 6 Aug 
 

Wed 7 Aug 
 

Thu 8 Aug 
 

Fri 9 Aug CONTRACTUAL ARRIVAL DATE 
 

Sat 10 Aug 
 

Sun 11 Aug MELBOURNE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 
 Jayson Gillham, piano 
 
11:00am Recital Performance – Iwaki  
 

BEETHOVEN Waldstein Sonata 
LIGETI Etudes Book 1 
Interval 
FAURE Nocturne No. 6 
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CHOPIN Etudes Op. 10 
 

Mon 12 Aug 
 

Tue 13 Aug MELBOURNE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 
 Jennifer Winley, conductor 
 Jayson Gillham, piano 
 
10:00am – 12:30pm Rehearsal – Iwaki 
 (Schools Open Rehearsal) 
 
1:30pm – 4:00pm Rehearsal - Iwaki 
 

Wed 14 Aug 
 
10:00am – 12:30pm Rehearsal – Iwaki 
 
1:30pm – 4:00pm Rehearsal - Iwaki 
 

Thu 15 Aug 
 
10:30am – 1:00pm General Rehearsal – Melbourne Town Hall 
 
7:30pm Performance – Melbourne Town Hall 
 
 FAURÉ Suite from Masques et bergamasques, Op. 112 (1919) 
 MOZART Piano Concerto No. 12 in A Major, K. 414 (1782) 
 Interval 
 BRAHMS Symphony No. 1 (1855) 
 BRAHMS ARR. PARLOW Hungarian Dance No. 15 in B-flat (1852) 
 
 END OF SYMPHONY SERVICES’ ENGAGEMENT 

 
 

Fri 16 Aug 
 
 
Sat 17 Aug - Sat 12 Oct Artist’s own arrangements and other engagements 
 

Sun 13 Oct 
 
4:05pm Depart Melbourne/ Qatar QR 989 
 
10:35pm Arrive Doha 
 

Mon 14 Oct 
 
1:10am Depart Doha/ Qatar QR 105 
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6:25am Arrive London, Heathrow 
 
NOTES: 
Dress code (orchestra): Tails and Long Black 
Class of travel: Business International/ Economy Domestic 
Travelling companion/s: 
 
ORCHESTRAL CONTACTS: 

MELBOURNE SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 
ABC Southbank Centre, 120-130 Southbank Blvd, Southbank, VIC, 3006 
Katharine Bartholomeusz-Plows – Head of Artistic Planning (Mobile:   
Andrew Groch – Artistic Administrator (Mobile:   
Stephen McAllan – Associate Producer & Artist Liaison (Telephone:  Mobile:   
Grace Ip – Programming Coordinator (Mobile:   
* The Acknowledgement of Country above, is as per the details in the Artist Questionnaire emailed out by the 
Orchestra.  The Artist is not involved in the performance of this but is included here as a courtesy. 
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